
NEVADA STATE  
BOARD OF PHARMACY 

BOARD MEETING 

December 5-6, 2018 

HYATT PLACE 
1790 E PLUMB LN 

RENO, NEVADA 

1



2



3



4



5



6



7



8



9



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1

10



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2

11



 

NEVADA STATE BOARD OF PHARMACY 

431 W. Plumb Lane  •  Reno, NV  89509 

(775) 850-1440  •  1-800-364-2081  •  FAX  (775) 850-1444 

•  Web Page: bop.nv.gov 

 

 

 
 
 

MINUTES 
 

October 10 & 11, 2018 
 

BOARD MEETING 
 

Hilton Garden Inn 
7830 S Las Vegas Blvd 

Las Vegas, Nevada 
 
Board Members Present: 
 
Leo Basch  Kevin Desmond Wayne Mitchell Jason Penrod   
Melissa Shake  Robert Sullivan Kirk Wentworth 
 
Board Staff Present: 
 
Dave Wuest  Paul Edwards Shirley Hunting  
Brett Kandt  Ray Seidlinger Joe Dodge  Kenneth Scheuber   
Luis Curras  Dena McClish Yenh Long  Kristopher Mangosing 
 
President Basch read the mission statement of the Nevada State Board of Pharmacy to 
reiterate the Board’s duty to carry out and enforce the provisions of Nevada Law to protect 
the health, safety, and welfare of the public. 
 
 
1. Public Comment October 10, 2018 9:00 AM 
 
There was no public comment. 
 
2. Approval of September 5-6, 2018, Minutes   
 
The Board requested corrections on p.1 to show Mr. Pinson as absent from the September 
2018 Board Meeting, on p. 17 to show “Exhibits 1 through 8,” p. 28 to change the word 
ensure to review and on p. 17 to change the word role to rule. 
 
Board Action:  
 
Motion: Jason Penrod moved to approve the September 5-6, 2018, Minutes with 

corrections as discussed. 

12



 

2 

 

 
Second: Melissa Shake 
 
Action: Passed unanimously 
 
3. Applications for Out-of-State Pharmacy – Non Appearance   
 

A. Advanced Pharmacy Solutions – Laguna Hills, CA 
B. Aviva Care Pharmacy – Sunrise, FL 
C. CareMetx Health, LLC – Gaithersbug, MD 
D. Chesterfield Pharmacy – Garland, TX 
E. Comprehensive Care Pharmacy – Clinton, TN 
F. Concentrix CVG – Tucson, AZ 
G. Fresenius Medical Care North America – Lake Bluff, IL 
H. Lakeside Pharmacy – Monterey, LA 
I. Med 4 Home – Kansas City, MO 
J. PharMerica – Louisville, KY 
K. PillPack LLC – Manchester, NH 
L. Pineland Pharmacy – Richardson, TX 
M. Preveon Specialty Pharmacy – Highland, CA 

 
 Applications for Out-of-State Compounding Pharmacy – Non Appearance 
   

N. Professional Pharmacy Resources – Pace, FL 
O. St. Joseph’s McAuley Pharmacy – Phoenix, AZ 
 
Applications for Out-of-State Wholesaler – Non Appearance   
 
P. Amneal Pharmaceuticals LLC – Glasgow, KY 
Q. Amneal Pharmaceuticals LLC – Glasgow, KY 
R. Aprecia Pharmaceuticals, LLC – Blue Ash, OH 
S. Arnold Dental Supply Company, Inc. – Lynnwood, WA 
T. Burke Therapeutics, LLC – Hot Springs, AR 
U. DSC Logistics, LLC – Rancho Cucamonga, CA 
V. DSC Logistics, LLC – Jefferson, GA 
W. Eyevance Pharmaceuticals LLC – Fort Worth, TX 
X. Humco Holding Group, Inc. – Texarkana, TX 
Y. JAMS Wholesale Distribution Services LLC – Coconut Creek, FL 
Z. NDC Homecare LLC – LaVerge, TN 
AA. Shire Rare Disease U.S. Biotech, Inc. – Lexington, MA 
BB. Spectra Medical Devices, Inc. – Wilmington, MA 
CC. Triad Isotopes – Memphis, TN 
DD. Wolf Medical Supply – Sunrise, FL 
 
Applications for Out-of-State Medical, Devices, Equipment and Gases – Non  
Appearance   
 
EE. Angelini Pharma Inc. – Gaithersburg, MD 

13



 

3 

 

FF. Crown Medical Solutions, LLC – Lemon Grove, CA 
GG. Mainlands Medical Inc. – Pinellas Park, FL 
 
Applications for Nevada Pharmacy – Non Appearance   
 
HH. LVS Surgery Center LLC – Las Vegas, NV 
II. Preferred Pharmacy – Las Vegas, NV 

 
Melissa Shake recused from participation regarding Item 3J (PharMerica) due to her 
employment with Walgreens.  Walgreens is a parent company of PharMerica. 
 
Board Action:  
 
Motion: Jason Penrod moved to approve the Consent Agenda except Item 3J. 
 
Second: Kevin Desmond 
 
Action: Passed unanimously 
 
Board Action:  
 
Motion: Jason Penrod moved to approve Item 3J. 
 
Second: Kevin Desmond 
 
Action: Passed unanimously 
 
4. Discipline 
 

A. David J. Adams, DO    (17-095-CS-S) 
 
David Adams appeared and was sworn by President Basch prior to answering questions or 
offering testimony. 
 
Maria Nutile and Russell Marsh were present as counsel representing Dr. Adams. 
 
Mr. Kandt summarized the facts of the case where Dr. Adams was disciplined by the Nevada 
Board of Osteopathic Medicine for providing pre-signed prescriptions for Dr. Foote to give to 
patients. Dr. Foote would prescribe prescriptions for dangerous drugs and Dr. Adams would 
prescribe any controlled substance prescription.  Dr. Foote did not have a DEA registration or 
a controlled substance registration and was prohibited from prescribing, administering, 
possessing, or distributing controlled substance to his patients. 
 
Ms. Nutile requested the Board hold a closed session to discuss details of this case. 
 
Mr. Kandt moved to have Exhibits 1 through 3 admitted into the record. 
 
Ms. Nutile had no objections. 

14



 

4 

 

 
Mr. Kandt presented the Nevada Board of Osteopathic Medicine’s complaint against Dr. 
Adam’s, Dr. Adam’s Settlement Agreement and Dr. Adam’s Answer and Notice of Defense. 
 
Board Action: 
 
Motion: Kirk Wentworth moved to hold a closed session to discuss Dr. Adams case. 
 
Second: Jason Penrod 
 
Action: Passed unanimously 
 
The Board entered closed session. 
 
Board Action: 
 
Motion: Kirk Wentworth moved to go back into open session. 
 
Second: Jason Penrod  
 
Action: Passed unanimously 
 
Mr. Kandt stated that the evidence and testimony provided prove the factual allegations. 
 
Ms. Nutile stated that Dr. Adams is no longer prescribing in an outpatient setting and 
requested the Board refrain from suspending or revoking his registration so that he may 
continue his practice. 
 
Board Action: 
 
Motion: Jason Penrod moved that the Board has jurisdiction over this matter and that 

the evidence and testimony provided prove the factual allegations.  
 
Second: Melissa Shake  
 
Action: Passed unanimously 
 
Board discussion ensued regarding each Cause of Action. 
 
Board Action: 
 
Motion:  Jason Penrod moved to find David Adams guilty of the First through Seventh 

Causes of Action with modifications to the Sixth Cause of Action to remove 
NRS 453.331(1)(a). 

 
Second:  Kevin Desmond 
 
Action: Passed unanimously 

15



 

5 

 

 
The Board discussed possible penalties for Dr. Adams. 
 
Board Action: 
 
Motion: Melissa Shake moved to revoke David Adams’ Controlled Substance 

Registration.  The revocation is stayed and his registration placed on probation 
for five years.  Dr. Adams shall pay a fine of $10,000 and an administrative fee 
of $15,000 within 60 days.  Dr. Adams shall comply with all terms of his 
agreement with the Nevada State Board of Osteopathic Medicine.  Dr. Adams 
shall notify Board Staff of any change in his status with the Nevada State Board 
of Osteopathic Medicine within one business day. 

 
Second: Kirk Wentworth  
 
Action: Passed unanimously 
 

B. Robert Gaimaro, PA    (17-103-CS-S) 
 
Robert Gaimaro appeared and was sworn by President Basch prior to answering questions 
or offering testimony. 
 
Mr. Kandt summarized the facts of the case where Mr. Gaimaro or a member of his staff had 
accessed the Prescription Monitoring Program (PMP) report for a patient with whom Mr. 
Gaimaro did not have a bona fide relationship with. 
 
Mr. Gaimaro stated that he did not personally access or direct his staff to access the patient’s 
PMP report.  He explained that the office computers may have had the PMP log in 
information saved on the computer.  He stated that since the discovery of this error the 
company IT department has removed the log in information from the computers in the office. 
 
Mr. Kandt called Yenh Long as a witness. 
 
Yenh Long, PMP Administrator Nevada State Board of Pharmacy, appeared and was sworn 
by President Basch prior to answering questions or offering testimony. 
 
Mr. Kandt questioned Ms. Long regarding her role as the PMP Administrator and the 
procedure that occurred while deactivating and reactivating Mr. Gaimaro’s PMP access 
during the investigation of this case.  
 
Ms. Long testified that Mr. Gaimaro currently has no delegates registered to search the PMP 
on his behalf. 
 
Mr. Kandt moved to have Exhibits 1 through 5 admitted into the record. 
 
Mr. Gaimaro had no objections. 
 
President Basch admitted Exhibits 1 through 5 into the record. 

16



 

6 

 

 
Ms. Long described Exhibits 1 through 5.  She stated that Exhibits 1 through 5 were 
screenshots from the PMP of Mr. Gaimaro’s PMP account, a certification statement signed 
by Mr. Gaimaro, an acknowledgement from the PMP that is clicked each time a search is 
performed, and correspondence from Erica Zambrano, Mr. Gaimaro’s staff, to the PMP 
requesting Mr. Gaimaro’s PMP access be reactivated. 
 
Ms. Long answered questions to the Board’s satisfaction regarding the PMP.  
 
Mr. Kandt called Paul Edwards as a witness. 
 
Mr. Edwards testified that Erica Zambrano does not currently have a controlled substance 
license with the Board of Pharmacy. 
 
Mr. Gaimaro moved to have Exhibit A admitted into the record. 
 
Mr. Kandt had no objection. 
 
President Basch admitted Exhibit A into the record. 
 
Mr. Gaimaro reviewed Exhibit A for the Board.  He presented documentation showing that 
the company IT had updated the office computers so the PMP log in information could not be 
saved on any office computer except the practitioners’.  Mr. Gaimaro presented 
documentation that showed he was with a patient during the time of the PMP search.   
 
Mr. Gaimaro admitted that his account was used to query the patient’s PMP report.  He 
explained that Ms. Zambrano is a staff member who oversees office administration, 
insurance billing and quality assurance.   
 
Board discussion ensued regarding the importance of protection of patient health 
information. 
 
Mr. Kandt stated that the testimony and evidence provided proves the facts listed in the 
Accusation and Notice of Intended Action. 
 
Board Action:  
 
Motion: Jason Penrod moved that the Board has jurisdiction over this matter and that 

the testimony and evidence provided proves each of the factual allegations. 
 
Second: Wayne Mitchell 
 
Action: Passed unanimously 
 
Board Action:  
 
Motion: Jason Penrod moved to find Robert Gaimaro guilty of the First through Fourth 

Causes of Action. 

17



 

7 

 

 
Second: Kevin Desmond 

 
Action: Passed unanimously 
 
Mr. Kandt moved to have Exhibit 6 admitted into the record. 
 
Mr. Gaimaro had no objection. 
 
President Basch admitted Exhibit 6 into the record. 
 
Mr. Kandt presented documentation of reasonable attorney’s fees and costs accrued during 
the investigation of this case. 
 
Board Action:  
 
Motion: Jason Penrod moved that the fees and costs were reasonable and actually 

incurred. 
 
Second: Kevin Desmond  
 
Action: Passed unanimously 
 
Mr. Kandt stated that Board Staff recommends Mr. Gaimaro’s PMP account be deactivated 
until he submits updated policies and procedures that will protect his PMP account from 
improper use.  Mr. Gaimaro shall pay a fine of $1,250 for each violation totaling $5,000 and 
shall pay an administrative fee of $5,000 within 60 days. 
 
Board discussion ensued regarding deactivating Mr. Gaimaro’s PMP account. 
 
Board Action:  
 
Motion: Melissa Shake moved that Robert Gaimaro shall pay a fine of $2,000 and an 

administrative fee of $5,000 within 60 days.  Mr. Gaimaro shall submit updated 
policies and procedures to Board staff within 30 days.  Board Staff is authorized 
to review and approve the updated policies and procedures.  Board Staff will 
visit Mr. Gaimaro’s clinic to ensure the PMP cannot be improperly accessed by 
Mr. Gaimaro’s staff. 

 
Second: Kirk Wentworth  
 
Aye:  Shake, Sullivan, Wentworth 
Nay:  Mitchell, Penrod 
 
Action: Motion carries  
 

C. Lucas Meyers, R.Ph    (16-089-RPH-A-S) 
D. Thy Thai Nguyen, R.Ph    (16-089-RPH-B-S 

18



 

8 

 

E. Walgreens #03922     (16-089-PH-A-S) 
F. Walgreens Co.     (16-089-PH-B-S) 

 
Melissa Shake recused from participation in this matter due to her employment with 
Walgreens. 
 
Mr. Wuest stated that two pharmaceutical technicians were subpoenaed and present for their 
involvement in the case. 
 
Brenda Facunla, pharmaceutical technician, Ava Ghayour, pharmaceutical technician, Thy 
Nguyen and Lucas Meyers appeared and were sworn by President Basch prior to answering 
questions or offering testimony. 
 
Bill Stilling was present as counsel representing the Respondents. 
 
Mr. Edwards summarized the facts of the case where Walgreens #03922 had dispensed two 
100 ml bottles of Amoxicillin 125mg/ml suspension for patient M.B.  At the point of sale, Ms. 
Facunla reconstituted both 100 ml bottles of Amoxicillin 125mg/5ml suspension constituting a 
total dosage for 30 days and dispensed them to the patient’s mother A.C.  There was no 
expiration date indicated on the label of either Amoxicillin bottle.  Mr. Meyers was the 
pharmacist of record and did not verify the final product before sale and dispensing to the 
patient.  Mr. Meyers was also the counseling pharmacist of record and failed to offer or 
provide counseling to A.C.  Patient M.B ingested the expired Amoxicillin for approximately 9 
days.  Ms. Nguyen was the managing pharmacist of Walgreens #03922 during the time of 
the error.  Walgreens failed to produce a duplicate label or any documentation of the 
expiration date for the prescription upon request from the Board’s investigator. 
 
Mr. Edwards presented a Stipulation and Order regarding the Respondents. 
 
Mr. Meyers shall pay a fine of $1,000 and an administrative fee of $1,000 and shall complete 
two additional CEU on supervising pharmacist responsibilities. 
 
Mr. Meyers shall pay a fine of $500 and shall complete two additional CEU on proper 
prescription record keeping. 
 
Mr. Meyers shall pay a fine of $1,000 on proper counseling. 
 
Ms. Nguyen shall pay a fine of $500 and an administrative fee of $500 and shall complete 
two additional CEU on managing pharmacist responsibilities. 
 
Walgreens #03922 and Walgreens Co. shall pay a total fine of $2,000 and an administrative 
fee of $500.  Walgreens shall create new policies and procedures regarding readily 
retrievable records and proper posting of expiration dates and shall retrain all Nevada 
employees. 
 
Mr. Stilling had no objections to the Stipulation and Order presented by Board Staff. 
 
Mr. Stilling explained that the Respondents take these errors seriously. 

19



 

9 

 

 
Mr. Stilling moved to have Exhibit A through C admitted into the record. 
 
President Basch admitted Exhibit A through C into the record. 
 
Mr. Stilling presented documentation on proper expiration date placement on prescription 
labels and another example from a Walgreens test system. 
 
Mr. Stilling stated that Ms. Nguyen was not directly involved in this case, but explained that 
she understands her responsibility as the managing pharmacist. 
 
Mr. Meyers apologized to the mother and patient for his error. 
 
The Board stressed the importance of patient counseling. 
 
Board Action:  
 
Motion: Kevin Desmond moved to approve the Stipulation and Order as presented by 

Board Staff. 
 
Second: Jason Penrod.  
 
Action: Passed unanimously 
 

G. Tiffany C. Hall, PT     (18-057-PT-S) 
 
Tiffany Hall appeared and was sworn by President Basch prior to answering questions or 
offering testimony. 
 
Mr. Edwards summarized the facts of the case where Ms. Hall did not disclose her arrest 
record on her pharmaceutical technician application.  Ms. Hall was arrested in March 2018 
for driving under the influence of alcohol/drugs. 
 
Ms. Hall answered questions regarding her current employment with Walgreens and her 
arrest. 
 
Melissa Shake disclosed that she is employed by Walgreens and stated that she would be 
able to participate in this matter fairly and without bias. 
 
Mr. Edwards stated that Ms. Hall’s testimony supports the factual allegations. 
 
Board Action:  
 
Motion: Jason Penrod moved that the Board has jurisdiction over this matter and that 

the factual allegations have been proven based on the testimony provided. 
 
Second:  Melissa Shake 

 

20



 

10 

 

Action: Passed unanimously 
 
Board Action:  
 
Motion: Jason Penrod moved to find Tiffany Hall guilty of the First Cause of Action and 

not guilty of the Second Cause of Action. 
 
Second:  Wayne Mitchell 
 
Action: Passed unanimously 
 
After discussion the Board agreed that Ms. Hall’s current pharmaceutical technician 
registration be cancelled, but she could reapply and disclose her disciplinary information on 
the new application. 
 
Board Action:  
 
Motion: Jason Penrod moved to cancel Tiffany Hall’s pharmaceutical technician 

registration.  Ms. Hall can reapply immediately. 
 
Second:  Wayne Mitchell 
 
Action: Passed unanimously 
 

H. Veronica S. Ashworth, PT    (18-064-PT-S) 
 
Melissa Shake recused from participation in this matter due to her employment with 
Walgreens. 
 
Veronica Ashworth was not present. 
 
Mr. Edwards summarized the facts of the case where Ms. Ashworth was terminated from her 
employment as a pharmaceutical technician at Walgreens for diverting 800 Oxycodone 15 
mg tablets, 800 Percocet 10/325 mg tablets and 2,000 Oxycodone 30 mg. tablets over 
approximately a one-year period. 
 
Mr. Edwards moved to have Exhibits 1 through 7 admitted into the records. 
 
President Basch admitted Exhibits 1 through 7 into the record. 
 
Mr. Edwards presented documentation showing Board Staff had sent Ms. Ashworth her 
Notice of Intended Action and Accusation by certified mail.  
 
Board Action:  
 
Motion: Jason Penrod moved that service was properly given. 
 
Second:  Kevin Desmond 

21



 

11 

 

 
Action: Passed unanimously 
 
Mr. Edwards presented an email from Walgreen Co. Asset Protection Manager stating that 
Ms. Ashworth admitted verbally and in a written statement that she had been diverting 
controlled substances both for personal use and to sell.   
 
Board Action:  
 
Motion: Jason Penrod moved that the Board has jurisdiction over this matter and that 

the factual allegations have been proven based on the evidence provided. 
 
Second:  Kevin Desmond 

 
Action: Passed unanimously 
 
Board Action:  
 
Motion: Jason Penrod moved to find Veronica Ashworth guilty of the First through Fifth 

Causes of Action. 
 
Second:  Kevin Desmond 

 
Action: Passed unanimously 
 
Mr. Edwards stated that Board Staff recommends revocation of Ms. Ashworth’s 
pharmaceutical technician registration and an administrative fee of $500 if she chooses to 
request reinstatement. 
 
Board Action:  
 
Motion: Jason Penrod moved to revoke Veronica Ashworth’s pharmaceutical technician 

registration.  If Ms. Ashworth applies for reinstatement she shall pay an 
administrative fee of $500. 

 
Second:  Kevin Desmond 

 
Action: Passed unanimously 
 
 

I. Michael Bell, DDS     (17-102-CS-S) 
 
Michael Bell appeared and was sworn by President Basch prior to answering questions or 
offering testimony. 
 
Mr. Kandt summarized the facts of the case where Dr. Bell had attempted to access Las 
Vegas shooter Stephen Paddock’s PMP record without having a lawful purpose in doing so. 
 

22



 

12 

 

Mr. Kandt explained that Dr. Bell was unable to access Mr. Paddock’s report because it had 
already been blocked by PMP Staff. 
 
Mr. Kandt presented a Stipulation and Order regarding Dr. Bell. 
 
Dr. Bell shall provide Board Staff with updated policies and procedures regarding the proper 
use of the PMP. 
 
Dr. Bell shall pay a fine of $2,000 and an administrative fee of $2,000. 
 
Dr. Bell explained that he personally ran the queries for Mr. Paddock’s PMP report out of 
curiosity and expressed no objections to the Stipulation and Order presented. 
 
Board Action:  
 
Motion: Jason Penrod moved to approve the Stipulation and Order as presented. 
 
Second:  Kirk Wentworth 

 
Action: Passed unanimously 
  
 

J. Venus Vedadi, R.Ph    (17-112-RPH-S) 
 
Venus Vedadi appeared and was sworn by President Basch prior to answering questions or 
offering testimony. 
 
Lynn Beggs was present as counsel representing Ms. Vedadi. 
 
Mr. Kandt summarized the facts of the case where Ms. Vedadi’s PMP account was used to 
query the PMP database two times to access Stephen Paddock’s confidential patient 
information.  Ms. Vedadi had no pharmacist/patient relationship with Mr. Paddock and had no 
lawful purpose for accessing the patient utilization report. 
 
Mr. Kandt presented a Stipulation and Order regarding Ms. Vedadi. 
 
Ms. Vedadi shall pay a fine of $5,000 and pay an administrative fee of $5,000. 
 
Ms. Beggs requested the Board accept the Stipulation and Order as presented.  She 
explained that Ms. Vedadi has taken responsibility for her actions and did not share any of 
the information she obtained from the search. 
 
Board discussion ensued regarding the importance of protecting the PMP data. 
 
Board Action:  
 
Motion: Melissa Shake moved to accept the Stipulation and Order as presented. 
 

23



 

13 

 

Second: Robert Sullivan 

 
Action: Passed unanimously 
 
 

K. Joyce Chang, MD     (18-029-CS-S) 
 
Joyce Chang appeared and was sworn by President Basch prior to answering questions or 
offering testimony. 
 
Christopher Rath was present as counsel representing Dr. Chang. 
Mr. Kandt summarized the facts of the case where during a joint investigation from the 
Nevada State Board of Medical Examiners and the Nevada State Board of Pharmacy, it was 
discovered that Dr. Chang had established a procedure where she had authorized her 
medical assistant to create, sign and issue prescriptions on her behalf.  
 
Mr. Kandt presented a Stipulation and Order regarding Dr. Chang. 
 
Dr. Chang’s controlled substance registration and practitioner dispensing registration shall be 
revoked for a minimum of 1 year. 
 
Dr. Chang shall pay an administrative fee of $3,000 due within 30 days. 
 
Mr. Rath had no objections. 
 
Mr. Rath stated that Dr. Chang has voluntarily surrendered her DEA registration and currently 
has no pending criminal or civil cases.   
 
Board Action:  
 
Motion: Kevin Desmond moved to approve the Stipulation and Order as presented. 
 
Second: Jason Penrod 

 
Action: Passed unanimously 
 
5. Application for Nevada Pharmacy – Appearance  
 
  Genoa Healthcare, LLC – Las Vegas, NV 
 
Craig Pivo, managing pharmacist, and Tasha Hennessy, Regional Vice President, appeared 
and were sworn by President Basch prior to answering questions or offering testimony. 
 
Ms. Hennessy stated that Genoa Healthcare, LLC is a community pharmacy that services 
mental healthcare facilities. 
 

24



 

14 

 

The Board modified Genoa Healthcare, LLC’s application to remove closed door pharmacy 
from the application and to add mail service to the list of services provided at Ms. Hennessy’s 
request. 
 
Mr. Pivo answered questions to the Board’s satisfaction regarding his pharmacy experience 
and past discipline and recovery. 
 
Ms. Hennessy answered questions to the Board’s satisfaction regarding Optum, Genoa 
Healthcare, LLC’s parent company, disciplinary history. 
 
Board Action: 
 
Motion: Jason Penrod moved to approve Genoa Healthcare, LLC’s Application for 

Nevada Pharmacy pending a positive inspection and receipt of a Letter of 
Authorization allowing Ms. Hennessy and Mr. Pivo to speak on behalf of the 
company. 

 
Second: Kirk Wentworth 
 
Action: Passed unanimously 
 
 
6. Applications for Out-of-State Pharmacy – Appearance  
 

A. Advanced InfusionCare – Valdosta, GA 
 
Michael Hicks, managing pharmacist, appeared and was sworn by President Basch prior to 
answering questions or offering testimony. 
 
Mr. Hicks presented a Letter of Authorization allowing him to speak on behalf of the 
company. 
 
Mr. Hicks stated that Advanced InfusionCare is a home infusion pharmacy that provides 
sterile compounding services.  He stated that Advanced InfusionCare will primarily provide 
IVIG products to patients in Nevada. 
 
Joe Dodge, Inspector Nevada State Board of Pharmacy, appeared and was sworn by 
President Basch prior to answering questions or offering testimony. 
 
 
Mr. Dodge questioned Mr. Hicks regarding Advanced InfusionCare’ s sterile compounding 
policies and procedures, clean room specifications, product testing and shipping methods. 
 
Mr. Hicks answered questions to the Board’s satisfaction. 
 
Board Action: 
 

25



 

15 

 

Motion: Jason Penrod moved to approve Advanced InfusionCare’s Application for Out-
of-State Pharmacy License.  Advanced InfusionCare shall notify Board Staff 
prior to providing any products other than IVIG products to patients in Nevada. 

 
Second: Kevin Desmond 
 
Action: Passed unanimously 
 
 B. Marian Pharmaceuticals – Daphne, AL 
 
Christina Bond, managing pharmacist, appeared and was sworn by President Basch prior to 
answering questions or offering testimony. 
 
Jeff Whitehead was present as counsel representing Marian Pharmaceuticals. 
 
Ms. Bond presented a Letter of Authority allowing her to speak on behalf of the company. 
 
Mr. Whitehead explained that Marian Pharmaceuticals is requesting the Board’s approval for 
an ownership change. 
 
Ms. Bond explained that Marian Pharmaceuticals primarily provides commercially available 
topical products.  She stated that there are no plans to change their services provided with 
the new ownership. 
 
Mr. Whitehead answered questions regarding Marian Pharmaceuticals past inspections and 
previous ownership’s discipline. 
 
Mr. Edwards questioned Mr. Whitehead and Ms. Bond regarding open complaints and 
investigations in other states.  
 
After discussion Mr. Edwards disclosed that Board Staff currently has an open investigation 
regarding Marian Pharmaceuticals. 
 
President Basch offered Ms. Bond and Mr. Whitehead the option to table this application 
while the investigation takes place. 
 
The Board tabled Marian Pharmaceutical’s Application for Out-of-State Pharmacy License at 
Ms. Bond’s request. 
 
The Board reminded Ms. Bond and Mr. Whitehead that Marion Pharmaceuticals cannot ship 
medications into Nevada until this application is approved. 
 

B. NexGen Compounding Pharmacy – Weatherford, TX 
 
This matter was continued to a future meeting. 
 
 D. SMP Pharmacy Solutions #2 – Miami, FL 
 

26



 

16 

 

This matter was continued to the December 2018 Board meeting at the company’s request. 
 
7. Application for Out-of-State Outsourcing Facility –  Appearance  

 
  Athenex Pharma Solutions, LLC – Clarence, NY 
 
Robert Keem, appeared and was sworn by President Basch prior to answering questions or 
offering testimony. 
 
Mr. Keem presented a Letter of Authority allowing him to speak on behalf of the company. 
 
Mr. Keem stated that Athenex Pharma Solutions, LLC is an FDA approved 503B Outsourcing 
Facility. 
 
Mr. Dodge appeared and questioned Mr. Keem regarding Athenex Pharma Solutions, LLC’s 
most recent FDA inspection. 
 
Mr. Keem answered questions to the Board’s satisfaction regarding each observation 
regarding the pharmacy’s aseptic area and recall process from FDA’s inspection  
 
The Board recommended that Athenex Pharma Solutions, LLC test their updated recall 
procedure. 
 
Board Action: 
 
Motion: Kevin Desmond moved to approve Athenex Pharma Solutions, LLC’s 

Application for Out-of-State Outsourcing Facility. 
 
Second: Jason Penrod 
 
Action: Passed unanimously 
 
8. Application for Nevada Medical, Devices, Equipment and Gases – Appearance 
 
  iSleep, LLC – Reno, NV 
 
Charles Smart and John Hickok, part owners, appeared and were sworn by President Basch 
prior to answering questions or offering testimony. 
 
Mr. Smart and Mr. Hickok stated that iSleep, LLC provides affordable sleep apnea testing for 
patients. 
 
Mr. Hickok and Mr. Smart answered questions regarding their work history and iSleep, LLC’s 
policies and procedures and business model. 
 
The Board expressed concern that iSleep, LLC has a prescriber on Staff that could 
potentially refer patients to the company.   
 

27



 

17 

 

After discussion, the Board directed Board Staff to review iSleep, LLC’s business model is in 
compliance with Nevada law. 
 
Board Action: 
 
Motion: Kirk Wentworth moved to approve iSleep, LLC’s Application for Nevada MDEG 

License pending a positive inspection and review and approval of iSleep, LLC’s 
business model.  Board Staff is authorized to review and approve iSleep, LLC’s 
business model. 

 
Second: Wayne Mitchell  
 
Action: Passed unanimously 
 
9. Request for Removal of Restriction from Working as a Managing Pharmacist – 

Appearance  
 
  Ronald H. Engberson 
 
Ronald Engberson appeared and was sworn by President Basch prior to answering 
questions or offering testimony. 
 
Mr. Engberson requested that the Board consider modifying the restriction on his license that 
he work with supervision for 6 weeks.  He stated that he was having difficulty getting 
employment with this restriction. 
 
Mr. Edwards provided background information regarding Mr. Engberson’s past Board 
appearances.  
 
Mr. Engberson answered questions to the Board’s satisfaction regarding his PRN-PRN 
contract, recovery and employment. 
 
Board Action: 
 
Motion: Jason Penrod moved to allow the Executive Secretary to remove any and all 

restrictions regarding Ronald Engberson’s Nevada Pharmacist License based 
on professional discretion. 

 
Second: Melissa Shake 
 
Action: Passed unanimously 
 
10. Requests for Renewal of Pharmacist License - Appearance  

 
A. Moshe Lalehzari 

 
Moshe Lalehzari appeared and was sworn by President Basch prior to answering questions 
or offering testimony. 

28



 

18 

 

 
Mr. Edwards summarized the facts of the case where Mr. Lalehzari’s California Pharmacist 
License was revoked and the revocation stayed.  Mr. Lalehzari was the managing pharmacist 
at a pharmacy that had engaged in sterile compounding without proper training, the 
pharmacy also failed to maintain a written master formula with the procedure on how the 
drug was prepared. 
 
Mr. Lalehzari answered questions to the Board’s satisfaction regarding his license status in 
California, his compliance with the California Order and current employment. 
 
Board Action: 
 
Motion: Jason Penrod moved to approve Moshe Lalehzari’s Request for Renewal of his 

Pharmacist License with conditions.  Mr. Lalehzari’s Nevada Pharmacist license 
is placed on probation to match his California Order.  Mr. Lalehzari shall comply 
with the California State Board of Pharmacy’s Order.  Mr. Lalehzari shall notify 
Board Staff of any changes to his status in California including when his 
probation in California ends.  The Executive Secretary is authorized to end Mr. 
Lalehzari’s probation.  Mr. Lalehzari shall notify Board Staff before working in 
Nevada.  

 
Second: Kirk Wentworth 
 
Action: Passed unanimously 
 

B. Phic Kaing Lim 
 
This matter was continued to a future meeting. 
 
11. Request for an Intern License – 
 
  Thomas Ely 
 
Thomas Ely appeared and was sworn by President Basch prior to answering questions or 
offering testimony. 
 
Mr. Ely explained that he had disclosed that he was disciplined for possession of marijuana 
on his intern pharmacist application.   
 
Mr. Ely informed the Board that he no longer uses marijuana and apologized for his mistake.   
 
Mr. Ely answered questions to the Board’s satisfaction regarding his discipline and 
educational background. 
 
Board discussion ensued regarding having Mr. Ely evaluated by PRN-PRN. 
 
Board Action: 
 

29



 

19 

 

Motion: Jason Penrod moved to approve Thomas Ely’s Application for Intern 
Pharmacist License pending a positive evaluation from PRN-PRN.  Board Staff 
is authorized to review and approve Mr. Ely’s PRN-PRN evaluation. 

 
Second: Kirk Wentworth 
 
Action: Passed unanimously 
 
12. General Counsel Report 
 
13. Approval of 2019 Board Meeting Dates 
 
Mr. Wuest presented the 2019 Board Meeting Dates to the Board’s satisfaction. 
 
14.  Executive Secretary Report: 
 

A. Financial Report 
B. Temporary Licenses 

 
One temporary license was issued since the last Board meeting. 
 

C. Staff Activities 
D. Report to Board 

 
Mr. Wuest updated the Board regarding the licensing software changes. 
 

E. Board Related News 
 
Mr. Wuest reported to the Board regarding the Sunset Committee Meeting. 
 
 F. Licensing Activities Report 
 
 
 

15. Notice of Proposed Regulation Workshop Pursuant to NRS 233B.061(2): 
 

Amendment of Nevada Administrative Code (NAC) 639.250: Restrictions on 

supervision. The proposed amendment to NAC 639.250 will allow for an increase in 
pharmaceutical technician to pharmacist ratio in certain pharmacy settings 

 
Ms. Long provided background information regarding the proposed amendment. 
 
President Basch opened the Public comment. 
 
Lauren Paul, CVS, requested a modification to Section 4 to either specify the ratio increase 
in non-dispensing pharmacies, or to add counselling to the list of pharmacy functions. 
 

30



 

20 

 

Laurie Wonza, Walgreens, expressed support of expanding the pharmaceutical technician to 
pharmacist ratio in traditional pharmacy business models.  Ms. Wonza provided examples of 
other states that currently have higher pharmaceutical technician to pharmacist ratios than 
3:1. 
 
Liz MacMenamin, RAN, expressed support of expanding the pharmaceutical technician to 
pharmacist ratio. 
 
Gener Tejero, Las Vegas Infusion Pharmacy, expressed support of increasing the 
pharmaceutical technician to pharmacist ratio in a traditional pharmacy, but expressed 
concern with increasing the ratio in a compounding pharmacy setting. 
 
Rich Palermo, Express Scripts, expressed support of increasing the pharmaceutical 
technician to pharmacist ratio in non-dispensing pharmacy models. 
 
President Basch closed the Public Comment. 
 
Board discussion ensued regarding modifying the pharmaceutical technician to pharmacist 
ratio in different pharmacy business models.  The Board directed Board Staff to survey 
Nevada pharmacists to get more feedback and to bring this matter back to workshop. 
 
16. Date and Location of Next Scheduled Board Meeting: 
 
  December 5-6, 2018 – Reno, Nevada 
 
17. Public Comment October 11, 2018 5:00 PM 
 
There was no public comment. 

31



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3

32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4

101



MATRIX GUIDELINE FOR
DISCIPLINARY ACTIONS

lst Action 2nd Action 3rd Action

The investigative committee will review each case individually and may recommend a board
hearing, particularly with mitigating circumstances such as inappropriate technician
involvement or pharmacist malfeasance.

ln certain cases with ingested errors and significant negative health circumstances requiring
institutional care, the investigative committee recommendation will be a board hearing.

ln all death cases resulting from inappropriate drug therapy a board hearing will occur.

Attomey fees will be added costs in contested disciplinary actions requiring extensive attorney
preparation and presentation and are not described in the above matrix.

The board has directed that ownership may be charged in disciplinary cases. ln non-ingested
errors copies of admonition letters will be sent to management. Accumulative actions for
ownership monitoring will be based upon a 3 year period. All actions including non-ingested
errors will be given a case number and monitored.

The Board has the authority to fine from $0.00 to $10,000 for each Cause of Action.

Non inqested error Letter Letter Hearing
Counseling CE +

No counselinq $750.00 $1000.00 Hearino

Administrative fee $495.00 $495.00 $495.00

lnqested no potential harm $500.00 $1000.00 Hearinq

lngested with potential harm
or adverse outcomes $1000.00 Hearinq Hearing

lngested with negative outcome
or patient discomfort.
No institution intervention Hearino Hearinq Hearing

lngested with significant negative
health circumstance.
With institution admit Hearino Hearino Hearino

lngested with death related to
drug therapy Hearing Hearing H

Updated August 2014

102



103



104



105



106



107



108



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4A

109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4B

125



126



127



128



129



130



131



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5A

132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



147



148



149



150



151



152



154



155



156



157



158



159



160



161



162



163



164



166



167



168



169



170



171



172



173



174



175



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5B

176



177



178



179



180



181



182



183



184



185



186



187



188



189



190



191



192



193



194



195



196



197



198



199



200



201



202



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5C

203



204



205



206



207



208



209



210



211



212



213



214



215



216



217



218



219



220



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5D

221



222



223



224



225



226



227



228



229



230



231



232



233



234



235



236



237



238



239



240



241



242



243



244



245



246



247



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6A

248



249



250



251



252



253



254



255



256



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6B

257



258



259



260



261



262



263



264



265



266



267



268



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6C

269



270



271



272



273



274



275



276



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6D

277



278



279



280



281



282



283



284



285



286



287



288



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7A

289



290



291



292



293



294



295



296



297



298



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7B

299



300



301



302



303



304



305



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7C

306



307



308



309



310



311



312



313



314



315



316



317



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

8

318



319



320



321



322



323



324



325



326



327



328



329



330



331



332



333



334



335



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

9

336



337



338



339



340



341



342



343



344



345



346



347



348



349



350



351



352



353



354



355



356



357



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

10

358



359



360



361



From April 2017 Meeting Minutes

Darla Zarley disclosed that Mr. Curnutt was a former student, but stated that she would
be able to parlicipate in this matter fairly and without bias.

Justin Curnutt appeared and was sworn by President Basch prior to answering
questions or offering testimony.

President Basch stated that Mr. Curnutt appeared before the Board during the January
2017 board meeting. He explained that at that time the Board moved to reinstate Mr.
Curnutt's Nevada Pharmacist License pending he comply with a number of restrictions,
including to meet with Board Staff to explain the circumstances surrounding all
unaccounted for medications.

Mr. Curnutt stated that he has met with Board Staff twice to review the case.

Ken Scheuber, lnvestigator for the Nevada State Board of Pharmacy, appeared and
was sworn by President Basch prior to answering questions or offering testimony.

Mr. Scheuber explained after meeting with Mr. Curnutt there are discrepancies
regarding two prescriptions.

The Board questioned Mr. Curnutt regarding the two prescriptions in question.

Mr. Curnutt apologized to the Board for his mistake, but was not able to recall the
circumstances surrounding the two prescriptions.

The Board expressed concern regarding Mr. Curnutt's lack of personal accountability
regarding the case.

Board discussion ensued regarding the restrictions on Mr. Curnutt's Nevada Pharmacist
License, status on the OIG Blacklist, and the possibility of having Mr. Curnutt complete
a college level ethics course.

Board Action:

Kirk Wentworlh moved to deny Justin Curnutt's Request for Reinstatement
of Pharmacist License.

Kirk Wentworth withdrew his motion.

The Board discussed having Mr. Curnutt serve as a Pharmacy lntern.

Jason Penrod moved to approve Justin Curnutt's Application for Nevada
Pharmacy lntern pending he finds employment at a pharmacy, completes

362



a Board Staff approved college level ethics course, and complies with all

the restrictions placed on his license during the January 2017 board
meeting.

Second: Robert Sullivan

Action: Passed unanimously

From Januarv 2017 Meeting Minutes

Darla Zarley disclosed that Justin Curnutt was a former student, but stated that she

would be able to parlicipate in this matter fairly and without bias.

Justin Curnutt appeared and was sworn by President Basch prior to answering
questions or offering testimonY.

Mr. Edwards explained that the Board heard Mr. Curnutt's case during the January
2016 board meeting. He stated that Mr. Curnutt committed prescription fraud and
insurance f raud by creating, filling and dispensing multiple f raudulent prescriptions for
himself and another staff member. Those fraudulent prescriptions were then billed to an

insurance provider.

Mr. Curnutt agreed to Mr. Edwards' summary of the facts. He requested reinstatement

of his pharmacist license and described his activities during the last year.

Mr. Curnutt explained that he is active with the Boy Scouts of America and his church

community. He also opened a health food store and taught courses on various aspects

of maintaining a healthy lifestyle.

Board discussion ensued regarding Mr. Curnutt's status on the OIG Blacklist. Mr.

Pinson explained that if he is on that list he would not be allowed be employed by any

entity that bills Medicare or Medicaid.

The Board questioned Mr. Curnutt regarding unaccounted for medications that were

confiscated. Mr. Curnutt could not provide an explanation for the medications.

The Board discussed the possibility of having a mentor repoft on Mr. Curnutt's activities

as well as other corrective action.

Board Action:

Motion: Kirk Wentworth moved to reinstate Justin Curnutt's Nevada Pharmacist

License pending Mr. Curnutt meets with Board Staff to explain the

circumstances surrounding all unaccounted for medications that remain at

issue in his case. Board Staff is authorized to review and approve Mr.

Curnutt's explanation. lf Board Staff accepts the explanation Justin

Curnutt's license will be reinstated, this will take place no sooner than

363



Second:

Action:

February 5, 2017 , and be put on a probationary status for a period of no
less than two years from the reinstatement date. During the probationary
period Mr. curnutt may not work more than forty hours per week. He may
not work as a pharmacist in charge or pharmacy manager of any Nevada
pharmacy. He may not work alone and must work at all times under the
direct supervision of a Nevada licensed pharmacist. He must engage a
peer mentor who must be a Nevada licensed physician or pharmacist, and
is subject to Board staff approval. The mentor must submit quarterly
written status reports to the Board's Executive Secretary explaining his or
her perception and opinion of his work status, the activities in which he is
engaged as part of his personal and professional recovery, his level of
compliance with the terms of his probation and any other matters that the
mentor deems peftinent. Mr. Curnutt shall inform all current and potential
future employers of this disciplinary action. Any violation of the terms of
the Board's Order may result in the immediate suspension of his
pharmacist license.

Jason Penrod

Passed unanimously

364



Explanation of Ethics Course:

March 19th, 2018; (11+ months since the April 2Ot7 Board hearing) I have yet to Bet a "college level ethics course"

approved by the Board. Please refer to the last statement, which is underlined, in this document for the intention

of this document. This document also serves to show a chronological correspondence between Mr. Edwards and

myself.

June 26th, 2OL7; lt took 2 months to investigate and get as close to an adequate "college level ethics course." I

submitted various courses with which some were from private companies as well as some from colleges. I was very

eager to satisfy this stipulation and put into practice what I had learned throughout the remainder of the year.

June 30th, 2OL7;l received a response backfrom Mr. Edwards askingfor a bit of time forthe Board to investigate

these courses. Out of all of them available Mr. Edwards was leaning toward the company, "lllumeo," which offered

a 3 part certification course on personal ethics, professional ethics, and work ethics. He stated that, "we will make

a final decision and let vou know sometime next week," with regard to the ethics courses initially presented.

October L7th,2OL7; I had not heard back yet and so inquired once again as to these same courses.

October t8th,2Ot7i I was told that it was the week of a Board Meeting and therefore to glve him some additional

time to evaluate the ethics courses as that was a busy week.

November Lsth,2Ot7; I had not heard backyet and so inquired once again. lalso asked Mr. Edwardsto send me an

additional document.

November tsrh,2OL7; Mr. Edwards sent the document promptly and asked to, "Remind me what ethics courses

you are looking at please?"

December 9th,2OL7; I responded by reiterating all I had communicated on June 26rh,2017.

January 18th,2018; I had not heard back and submitted to Mr. Edwards an email restating my desire to get a

course approved and completed.

February 13th, 2018; Mr. Edwards responded back and stated that either of the 2 ethics courses that were initially
proposed on June 26th,2017 were "fine" and could have the Board look at them. He also gave input and direction

as to what he thought the Board would regard as more on point but stated that he could see what they thought of

the 2 initial courses.

For about a week I searched for medical ethics courses that were "college level," as directed by Mr. Edwards, while

waiting to hear if the Board had authorized or denied the initial courses. I found various medical ethics courses

regarding ethics in medical studies, ethics in surgery, nurse ethics, ethics with opiate prescribing, ethics in just

about everything MD related that did not pertain to my particular issues.

February 26ih,2OL8; I responded back offering the above results about the medical ethics courses not seeming

adequate and asked for him to continue to pursue the inltial 2 courses proposed on June 26th,2077 lobe
approved, or not, by the Board as time is now upon us for me to get something done. lf they were not approved by

the Board then at least I could have some direction as a NO answer is still a step in the right direction.

March 5th, 2018; I asked Mr. Edwards to get the initial course by MIT approved as I could not find a medical ethics

course that was adequate in my opinion. I ruled out the company I had initially found with the 3 tiered certification

365



program," lllumeo," because it was not a college level ethics course and assumed this is what Mr. Edwards was
referring to when he made mention that it was not on point.

March 13th, 2018; Mr. Edwards responded back stating that my 2 initial courses were not on point and that if I

really wanted to get them approved by the Board then he would make the request. Almost 1 year in and I was
given a recommendation from Mr. Edwards to look at the "Professional Boundaries lnc." ethics course. Mr.
Edwards inferred that someone had done that course to satisfy a disciplinary action.

ln Summary:

I was under the assumption that the 2 courses initially found would work by the encouraging emails at the
beginning of last year by Mr. Edwards. I did not find out until February 2018 that the initial courses were less than
adequate. Almost a year into trying to get a course approved I was informed that they were not on point. He also
gave me an inclination on March 13th, 2018 as to what someone else had done and the Board approved of
regarding an ethics course. The course looks amazing; however, it is S1,875 forthe course. lam currently in
hardship and unfortunately cannot afford such a course.

Last year there were mentions made that I could take a UNLV or Roseman sponsored ethics course, that would not
cost much money, if offered and approved. I looked into such courses through UNLV and they had so many
prerequisite courses that it would take me years to get to the ethics course of choice. Roseman on the other hand
has not offered such a course. lt seems that I have been making suggestions and nothing has been passed along in
orderto meet an agreement on an ethics course. I have striven to get everything done within my purview. I have
taken various ethics courses to not only satisfy the requirement for the stipulation but to also gain an
understanding of how far I had strayed and to put the ethics to use in my life.

I realize the Board is busy and has little time for trivial issues but in this case my trivial issue was a specific
stipulation from the Board (i.e. to get the ethics course approved by the Board) in order to obtain my licensure
back. Please allow me an opportunity to become a pharmacist once more and accept my humble attempt at
completing various ethics courses. lwould more than happily finish any other ethics course the Board approves,
regardless of cost, if I were allowed my pharmacist license back.

Mv attempt at sitting before the Board is to either:

1-

courses and therefore satisfving stipulation number 3;

Thank you,

Justin Curnutt

366



Stipulation Overview 2Ot7 -2OtB

Objective:

To obtain my pharmacist license.

Summary of Qualifications:

As per April2077 document entitled: Revised Conditions for Reinstatement of pharmacist License No.
18338; which has been provided for your convenience.

1- Effective April 12, 2017- the date of the meeting- the board declined to reinstate your
pharmacist license. The board did, however, grant you an intern pharmacist license for a period
of not less than (1) year.

Response: completed as of the date of this board hearing Aprir 11-12, 201g.

2- While you are working as an intern pharmacist:

a. You must work under the supervision of a preceptor as required by NAC 639.252, et al.
Your preceptor and the pharmacy where you propose to work are subject to prior
approval by the Board Staff;

Response: Chris Southwick of Advanced lsotopes of Nevada was authorized to be a preceptor for the
duration of employment at that facility.

b. Your preceptor/intern supervisor must submit quarterly written status reports to the
Board's Executive Secretary explaining his or her perception and opinion of your work
status, the activities in which you are engaged as part of your personal and professional

development, and any other matters that the preceptor/supervisor deems pertinent;

Response: To the best of my knowledge those reports were submitted for the duration of
employment at that facility.

c. You may be employed and work on a full time basis, but you may not work more than
forty (a0) hours per week;

Response: I did not work more than 40 hours in any one week during the year as an intern pharmacist.

d. You may not work as a pharmacist in charge or managing pharmacist in any Nevada-
pharmacy; and

Response: I did not work as a pharmacist in charge or managing pharmacist during the year.

367



e' You may not work alone. You must work at all times under the direct supervision of a

Nevada-licensed pharmacist.

Response: I did not work alone at any point during the year within a pharmacy; always under the
direct supervision of a Nevada-licensed pharmacist.

3- Before you are eligible to have your pharmacist license reinstated, you must find and complete a
college level ethics course. That course is subject to prior Board Staff approval.

Response: As of submitting these documents on March L3,2oLB l have yet to get an ethics course
approved by Board Staff.

ln a proactive attempt to show Board Staff I am wilting to do whatever it takes, I have completed
various "college level" ethics courses throughout the year. This was done not only to satisfy the
stipulation but to begin to implement the ideas and theories into my daily !ife.

- MIT Course Number: 24.231. entitled "Ethics" Referenced at:Julia Markovits. 24.291 Ethics.Fall
2009' Massachusetts lnstitute of Technology: MIT OpenCourseWare, https://ocw.mit.edu. License: Creative
Commons BY-NC-SA

- MlTCourse Number: HST.935 entitled "Narrative Ethics: Literary Texts and Moral lssues in
Medicine" Referenced at: Martha Montello. HST.115 Narrative Ethics: Literary Texts and Moral lssues
in Medicine. January lAp 2007. Massachusetts lnstitute of rechnology: Mlr
opencourseware, https://ocw. mit.edu. License: creative commons By-NC-SA.

4- Once reinstated, your license will be put in a probationary status for a period of not less than
two (2) years from the reinstatement date, and may be subject to any the Board deems
appropriate at that time.

Response: Not applicable.

5- You must inform all current and future employers of this disciplinary action (BOp v. Curnutt,
Case No. 15-051-RPH-S), including the facts and circumstances of the case, i.e., that the Board
revoked your pharmacist license as a result of your conviction in this matter.

Response: Doing.

6- You will not violate, attempt to violate, assist or abet anyone in the violation of or conspire to
violate any of the provisions of Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) Chapt er 453,454, 585 or 639, or
any other state or federal law or regulation relating to drugs, the possession, manufacture or
distribution of drugs or the practice of pharmacy.

368



Response: Doing,

7- After not less than one (1) year, you may petition the Board for full reinstatement of your
pharmacist license. The Board may, at its sole discretion, comply with such a request, but it is
under no obligation to do so.

Response: Doing.

8- Any violation of the terms of the Boa rd's Order, as explained above, may result in the im mediate
suspension of your intern pharmacist license.

These conditions are not negotiable. A hearing before the Board would be required to amend them. you

may contact me, Dr. Pinson, the Board's Executive Secretary, or Mr. Wuest, the Board's Deputy
Executive Secretary, if you have questions. A copy of the recording from the hearing in this matter is

available upon request.

Submitted in concurrence with this document is the OIG Blacklist reversal and PCMA document.

Thanks,

Justin Curnutt

369



UNITED ST,ATES

Reply to:

Dcbarring OIIicial
OIG/OPM
1900 E Sl . NW.. Rm. 6400
Washinston. DC 20415-l I l0OITFICE OF PERSONNEL MANAGEMENT

Washington, DC 20415

October 3,2017Ollicc o[ thc
Inspcclor Gcncrirl

Justin Daine Curnutt
4531 North Leslie Street
Pahrump, NV 89060

Dear Mr. Cumutt:

On January 8, 2017, the Office of Personnel Management (OPM) proposed your debarment for a
period concurrent with your Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) exclusion.
OPM's debarment became effective on February 22,2017.

DHHS has notified us that they have modifled your exclusion. Accordingly, I have
terminated OPM's debarment effective August 10,2017, and all FederalEmployees
Health Benefit Program (FEHBP) carriers will be notified of the change in your status.
ln addition, your OPM debarment will be removed from the General Services
Administration's government wide System for Award Management (SAM), formerly,
Excluded Parties List System or EPLS.

Although your eligibility to participate in the FEHBP has been reinstated effective
August 10,2017, your name will remain on SAM until the next monthly update. You should use

this letter to demonstrate that you are eligible to participate in the FEHBP until your name is
removed from SAM.

If you have any questions or require additional information, please contact the Administrative
Sanctions Group by email at debar@opm.gov, or at (202) 606-2185 or (202) 606-1838.

Sincerely,

-;>QaF
J. David Cope
Debarring Official

www opm.gov Rer:ruil. Ret,lln lna nonor u w"aact,.Lrs wo*rorc. fo s"rre thc American Pcoplt' M.usjobsgov

370



ru
sl

+$tf3
!
{

nos

D n t,.ttt t.lt tN'l o l.' F[ tiir u't't t r\ND I-I Li ill..\N S liRvt c li.s

On'rrcE oF InvspncroR GnNnnar
\\'i\sUt.\(; l ())i. tx: 20!() I

AUG I 0 2017

Justin Daine Curnutt
aka Justin D. Curhott
4531 North Leslie Street
Pahrump, NV 89060

Dear Justin Daine Curnutt:

RE: OI File No. H-I6-41267-9

Your request for the reinstatement of your eligibility to participate as a provider of items and
services covered by the title XVIII (Medicare) program has been approved. The reinstatement is
effective with the date of this notice.

We have notified the appropriate State agencies of this action. However, the States are not
obligated to reinstate you to their programs if they have imposed a longer period of exclusion
under their own authority.

We recommend that you contact the Medicare canier to determine your options for participating
in that program.

Although your right to participate in the Federal health care programs has been reinstated
effective with the date of this letter, your name will remain on the List of Excluded
Individuals/Entities (LEIE) until the next monthly update. You can access the LEIE online at
http://oiq.hhs.gov/exclusions/index.asp. You should use this letter to demonstrate that your right
to participate in the Federal health care programs has been reinstated until your nanle is removed
from the LEIE.

Reviewing Official
Health Care Program Exclusions

Sincerely,

371



Nrvaoe Srern Boeno or Puanuacy

OrrTcE oF THE GTxERAL CouxSEL
Wnrrrn's Drne c'tDtALt(775)850-144O . E-rvrAlr: pnlwaRDS@pHARMACy.Nv.Gov . F,rx (775) 850-7444

April19,2017

BY CERTIFIED U.S. MAIL AND ELECTRONIC MAIL
Justin Curnutt
2341 Postal Dr.
Pahrump, NV 89048
nukemrx@gmail.com

RE: Revised Conditions for Reinstatement of Pharmacist License No. 18338

Dear Mr. Curnutt:

As you are aware, the Nevada State Board of Pharmacy (Board) met on Wednesday, April
12,2017, in Las Vegas, Nevada. Board Staff asked that you appear at the meeting for further
consideration of your petition for reinstatement of your pharmacist license.

In particular, you were asked at a prior meeting to "meet with Board Staff and explain the
circumstances sulrounding all unaccounted for medications that remain at issue in your case."
Your explanation was "subject to Board Staff s review and approval." Board Staff did not accept
your explanation as adequate and brought the matter back before the Board. The Board granted
the petition subject to the following revised conditions:

l. Effective April 12, 2017 - the date of the meeting - the Board declined to
reinstate your pharmacist license. The Board did, however, grant you an intern pharmacist
license for a period ofnot less than one (1) year;

2. While you are working as an intern pharmacist:

a. You must work under the supervision of a preceptor as required by NAC
639.262, et al. Your preceptor and the pharmacy where you propose to work are subject to prior
approval by Board Staff;

b. Your preceptor/intern supervisor must submit quarterly written status
reports to the Board's Executive Secretary explaining his or her perception and opinion of your
work status, the activities in which you are engaged as part of your personal and professional
development, and any other matters that the preceptor/supervisor deems pertinent;

c. You may be employed and work on a full time basis, but you may not
work more than forty (40) hours per week;

9171 9690 0935 0141 9724 09

372



2011 04 l9 LtrCurnutt

d. You may not work as a pharmacist in charge or managing pharmacist in
any Nevada-pharmacy; and

e. You may not work alone. You must work at all times under the direct
supervision of a Nevada-licensed pharmacist.

3. Before you are eligible to have your pharmacist license reinstated, you must find
and complete a college-level ethics course. That course is subject to prior Board Staff approval.

4. Once reinstated, your license will be put in a probationary status for a period of
not less than two (2) years from the reinstatement date, and may be subject to any condition the
Board deems appropriate at that time.

5' You must inform all current and future employers of this disciplinary action (BOp
v. Curnutt, Case No. 15-05l-RPH-S), including the facts and circumstances of the case, i.e.,that
the Board revoked your pharmacist license as a result of your conviction in this matter.

6. You will not violate, attempt to violate, assist or abet anyone in the violation of or
conspire to violate any of the provisions of Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) Chapter 453,454,
585 or 639, or any other state or federal law or regulation relating to drugs, the possession,
manufacture or distribution of drugs or the practice of pharmacy.

7. After not less than one (l) year, you may petition the Board for full reinstatement
of your pharmacist license. The Board may, at its sole discretion, comply with such a request,
but it is under no obligation to do so.

8. Any violation of the terms of the Board's Order, as explained above, may result in
the immediate suspension of your intern pharmacist license.

These conditions are not negotiable. A hearing before the Board would be required to
amend them. You may contact me, Dr. Pinson, the Board's Executive Secretary, or Mr. Wuest,
the Board's Deputy Executive Secretary, if you have questions. A copy of the recording from the
hearing in this matter is available upon request.

Best regards,

A4/{a,'^a--
S. Paul Edwards
General Counsel
Nevada State Board of Pharmacy

Cc: Larry Pinson, Pharm.D. Executive Secretary, Nevada State Board of Pharmacy;David
Wuest, R.Ph., Deputy Executive Director, Nevada State Boar-d of Pharmacy

373



BEFORE THB NEVADA STATE BOARD OF PHARMACY

FILED

FEB il + 20t6

NB/ADA STATE BOARD
OF PHARMACY

NEVADA STATE BOARD OF PHARMACY,

Petitioner,
v.

JUSTIN CURNUTT, RPH
Certificate of Registration No. 18338

ISABEL ROMERO, PT
Certificate of Registration No. PT13592

LORI BRANDON, PT
Certificate of Registration No. PT09558

CASE NOS. 15-051-RPH-S
t5-051-PT-A-S
15-051-PT-B-S

FINDINGS OF FACT,
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
AND ORDER

Respondents.

This matter came before the Nevada State Board of Pharmacy (Board) at its regularly

scheduled meeting held on Wednesday, January 13,2016, in Las Vegas, Nevada. S. Paul

Edwards, Esq., appeared before the Board in his capacity as its General Counsel. Respondent

Justin Curnutt, RPh., Certificate of Registration No. 18338, appeared with his counsel, David E.

Krawczyk, Esq., of Dempsey, Roberts & Smith, Ltd.; Respondent Lori Brandon, PT, Certificate

of Registration No. PT13592, appeared with her counsel, Patricia A. Marr, Esq., of Patricia A.

Mam, Ltd.; and Respondent Isabel Romero, PT, Certificate of Registration No. PT09558,

appeared without counsel at the hearing.

Based on the evidence presented during the hearing, the Board issues the following

Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order.

FINDINGS OF FACT

l. The Board has jurisdiction over these matters.

2. The Board served a Notice of Intended Action and Accusation (Accusation) on

each of the Respondents, by certified mail, on or about December 9,2015, which each

ResPondent received' 
1 or e

20l610l/26 ORDERCmUII BrcM Romero

374



3. The respondents each filed an Answer and Notice of Defense in response to the

Accusation.

4. Based on the evidence introduced during the hearing, including admissions and

testimony given during the hearing, the Board fines as follows:

Unlawful Activitv bv Ms. Romero. PT

5. ln June 2015, Smith's Pharmacy (Smith's) terminated Ms. Romero from her

employment as a pharmaceutical technician at Smith's Pharmacy #341.

6. Smith's terminated Ms. Romero for attempting to falsify a prescription for a

dangerous drug (oral contraceptives) for herself.

7. Ms. Romero attempted to falsify that prescription by completing a "Confidential

Prescription Authorization Request" form authorizing an initial fill of Gildess Fe I -20 tablets,

with eleven (l l) refills.

8. Ms. Romero patterned that request after a previous legitimate prescription from

her physician.

9. Ms. Romero wrote the initials "H.D." on the request form to falsely indicate that

another pharmaceutical technician received a call from Ms. Romero's physician and completed

the authorization form.

10. There is no evidence that H.D. was actually involved in Ms. Romero's actions.

I 1. When pharmaceutical technician Ms. Brandon stepped away from her computer

terminal, Ms. Romero scanned the falsified request form at Ms. Brandon's terminal under Ms.

Brandon' s credentials.

2ot9

375



12. Ms. Brandon observed Ms. Romero performing a function at her terminal and

discovered that Ms. Romero had scanned in the falsified prescription for herself.

13. Ms. Brandon reported the incident to Mr. Curnutt, the pharmacist on duty at the

time.

14. When Mr. Cumutt confronted Ms. Romero, she admitted to her wrongdoing and

cancelled the prescription at Mr. Curnutt's direction.

15. Smith's did not dispense any medication pursuant to that authorization.

16. After telling Ms. Romero to cancel her falsified prescription, Mr. Cumutt further

told her that if she had asked, he would have written a prescription for her oral Contraceptive.

17. Since it was 9:00 p.m. at the time, Mr. Curnutt said that he would write a

prescription for Ms. Romero the following morning using the name of "any doctor". That did

not ultimately occur.

Unlawful Activities By Mr. Curnutt. R.Ph.. and Ms. Brandon. PT

18. Upon receiving a report regarding Ms. Romero's termination, Board Staff

initiated an investigation of all Smith's Pharmacy #341 employee prescription records.

19. Those records revealed questionable phoned-in and/or faxed prescriptions for Mr.

Curnutt and Ms. Brandon that were processed during the approximate time period of February 4,

201 4, to August 31, 201 5.

20. As part of his analysis, the Board Investigator consulted with the prescribers

named on the questionable prescriptions.

21. The investigation tumed up evidence that Mr. Cumutt and Ms. Brandon assisted

each other in falsiffing and filling multiple prescriptions for themselves and each other.

3of9

2016/0l,26.ORDERCmutt BroM Romero

376



22. Ms. Brandon falsified "Confidential Prescription Authorization Request" forms

for some of Mr. Curnutt's prescriptions, generally purporting to authorize an initial fill with

multiple refills.

23: Ms. Brandon falsely documented either Dr. Freeman or Dr. Stoughton as the

prescriber on those requests.

24. Similarly, Mr. Curnutt created "phoned in" prescriptions for Ms. Brandon and

himself. He placed his initials on the written authorization requests under the "prescriber's"

name, indicating that he accepted the prescription order(s) by phone.

25. On the requests for Ms. Brandon, Mr. Curnutt falsely documented Dr. Reddy as

the prescribing physician.

26. Table I below lists the fraudulent prescriptions filled for Mr. Curnutt. There are

forty (40) prescriptions listed.

Table I: Fraudulent Prescriptions Filled For Justin Curnutt, R.Ph.

Prescriber Rx No. Medication Ouantifv No. of Fills
Brian Freeman, DDS 6 28204 Amoxicillin 500me 24 capsules 4

6 28205 Acvclovir 400ms 30 tablets 4

6 49267 Amoxicillin 500me 80 capsules 6

Ned Stoughton, MD 6 14710 Cephalexin 500me 30 capsules 2

6tt47tt Methylprednisolone
4ms Doseok

21 tablets 2

6128207 Fluocinonide 0.05Yo

Ointment
60 gm 5

6128208 Methylprednisolone
4ms Doseok

2l tablets 4

6160595 Prednisone 20me 2l tablets 1

6171348 Prednisone 20me 40 tablets 5

Michael Reiner, MD 612822s Albuterol 0.083%
INH SOL

25 vials 4

Tammy Reynolds, MD 6 35314 Lidocaine HCL lo 200 ml I

61353r4 Lidocaine HCL l% 400 ml 2

4of9

20 I 6/0 I /26.ORDERCumutt.BroM Romero

377



27. Table II lists the fraudulent prescriptions processed for Ms. Brandon's benefit.

There are five (5) unlawful prescriptions listed.

Table II:

Prescriber
Santosh Reddy, MD 6l I 8208 Cephalex n 500me 80 capsules J

6140691 Cephalex n 500me 80 capsules 2

28. Mr. Curnutt and Ms. Brandon submitted at least some, if not all, of the foregoing

fraudulent prescriptions for payment to their respective insurance providers.

29. Mr. Curnutt and Ms. Brandon's respective insurance providers paid for, at least in

part, some of the fraudulent prescriptions submitted to them.

30. Drs. Freeman, Stoughton, Reiner, and Reynolds have each signed a declaration

affirming that they did not authorize the prescriptions listed on Table I for Mr. Curnutt.

31. Dr. Reddy signed a declaration that he did not authorize the prescriptions for Ms.

Brandon listed on Table II.

32. Mr. Curnutt admitted to falsifying several prescriptions for himself and for Ms.

Brandon.

33. Mr. Curnutt wrote prescriptions for Ms. Brandon because she was experiencing

pain from an abscessed tooth.

34 . On Septemb er 28,20 I 5, Mr. Curnutt, at the suggestion of the Board Investigator,

delivered the medications he purported to have in his possession to the Board Office in Las

Vegas.

Fraudulent Prescriptions Filled For Lori Brandon, P.T.

Rx No. Medication Quantity No. of Fills

5of9

2016/0 I /26.ORDER.Cumutt BroM.Romero

378



35. With Mr. Cumutt present, the Board lnvestigator inventoried the medications and

impounded them.

36. There were discrepancies in the quantities of medications Mr. Curnutt returned.

For instance, as to seven of the medications, Mr. Curnutt returned /ess product than Smith's

records show were dispensed to him.

37. Mr. Curnutt has not accounted for that missing medication.

38. As to one medication, Mr. Curnutt returned more product than Smith's records

show were dispensed to him.

39. Mr. Cumutt has not explained how the additional product came into his

possession.

40. Additionally, M1. Curnutt returned two medicationsl that were not documented in

his prescription profi le.

41. Mr. Curnutt has not explained how those medications came into his possession.

42. During Ms. Brandon's interview with the Board Investigator, and in a subsequent

written statement, Ms. Brandon confessed to falsifying several prescriptions for Mr. Curnutt.

43. Ms. Brandon admits that Mr. Curnutt wrote and filled fraudulent prescriptions for

her.

44. On September I 9, 2015, Ms. Brandon delivered to the Board Office the remaining

medications that she had in her possession.

45. In Ms. Brandon's presence, the Board Investigator inventoried the medications

and impounded them.

1 Rx No. 6128205: Acyclovir 400 mg. #30 filled l2ll4l20l4;
6of9

379



CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

Based upon the forgoing findings of fact, the Board concludes as a matter of law:

46. The Nevada State Board of Pharmacy (Board) has jurisdiction over this matter

because, at the time of the events alleged in the Accusation, Respondent Justin Curnutt was a

pharmacist licensed with the Board, Respondent Lori Brandon was a pharmaceutical technician

registered with the Board, and Respondent Isabel Romero, was a registered pharmaceutical

technician with the Board.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
(Prescription Fraud - Isabel Romero, PT)

47. By creating and attempting to process a fraudulent prescription for a dangerous

drug, Gildess Fe 1-20 tablets, without a lawful prescription or authorization from a practitioner,

Isabel Romero, PT, violated Nevada Administrative Code (NAC) 639.945(l) (h) and (k).

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
(Prescription Fraud - Justin Curnutt, R.Ph.)

48. In creating fraudulent prescriptions for various dangerous drugs for himself and

for Ms. Brandon, as detailed herein, including Tables I and II, Justin Curnutt, R.Ph., violated

NAC 639.945(lXh) and (k).

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
(Prescription Fraud - Justin Curnutt, R.Ph.)

49. In filling and dispensing multiple fraudulent prescriptions for various dangerous

drugs for himself and Ms. Brandon without a lawful prescription or authorization from a

practitioner, as detailed herein, including Tables I and II, Justin Cumutt, R.Ph., violated NAC

639.94s(t) (h) and (k).

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION
(Insurance Fraud - Justin Cumutt, R.Ph.)

Rx No. 6171348: Prednisone 20 mg. #40 filled 0812312015.
'l of 9

201 6/01,46 ORDERCumutt.BroM.Romero

380



50. By processing multiple fraudulent prescriptions for various dangerous drugs

without a lawful prescription or authorization from a practitioner, and by billing those

prescriptions to an insurance provider, Justin Cumutt, R.Ph., violated Nevada Administrative

Code (NAC) 639.94s(1)(h) and (k).

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION
(Prescription Fraud - Lori Brandon, PT)

5l. By creating multiple fraudulent prescriptions for various dangerous drugs without

a lawful prescription or authorization from a practitioner as detailed herein, including Tables I

and II, Lori Brandon, P.T., violated Nevada Administrative Code (NAC) 639.945(l) (h) and (k).

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION
(Insurance Fraud - Lori Brandon, PT)

52. By processing multiple fraudulent prescriptions for various dangerous drugs

without a lawful prescription or authorization from a practitioner, and by billing those

prescriptions to an insurance provider, Lori Brandon, P.T., violated Nevada Administrative Code

(NAC) 63e.e4s(1) (h) and (k).

THEREFORE, THE BOARD HEREBY ORDERS:

53. For the violations found under the First Cause of Action, the registration of

Respondent Isabel Romero, PT, Certificate of Registration No. PT09558, is revoked effective as

of the day of the hearing.

54. For the violations found under the Second Cause of Action, the license of

Respondent Justin Curnutt, RPh., Certificate of Registration No. 18338, is revoked effective as

of the day of the hearing.

55. For the violations found under the Third Cause of Action, the license of

Respondent Justin Curnutt, RPh., Certificate of Registration No. I 8338, is revoked effective as

of the day of the hearing.

8of9

2016/01/26 ORDERCmuil.BroM.Romero

381



56. For the violations found under the Fourth Cause of Action, the license of

Respondent Justin Curnutt, RPh., Certificate of Registration No. 18338, is revoked effective as

of the day of the hearing.

57. For the violations found under the Fifth Cause of Action, the registration of

Respondent Lori Brandon, PT, Certificate of Registration No. PT13592, is revoked effective as

of the day of the hearing.

58. Related to the Fifth Cause of Action, the registration of Respondent Lori Brandon,

PT, Certificate of Registration No. PT13592, is revoked effective as of the day of the hearing.

59. The Respondents, and each of them, are prohibited from working in any facility

licensed by the Board, including a pharmacy, in any capacity, unless and until he or she has

applied to the Board for reinstatement of his or her license/registration and the Board reinstates

the same.

60. In the event any of the Respondents applies for reinstatement, or for any other

registration or certificate with the Board, he or she shall appear before the Board to answer

questions and give testimony regarding the application and the facts and circumstances

underlying this matter.

Signed this !l- day of,Febr tary,2016.

)- S*'v--
Leo Basch, President
Nevada State Board of Pharmacy

9of9

201 6/0 I /26 ORDERCumutt BroM Romero

382



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

11A

383



384



385



386



387



388



389



390



391



392



393



394



395



396



397



398



399



400



401



402



403





405



406



407



408



409



410



411



412



413



414



415



416



417



418



419



420



421



422



423



424



425



426



427



428



429



430



431



432



433



434



435



436



437



438



439



440



441



442



443



444



445



446



447



448



449



450



451



452



453



454



455



456



457



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

11B

458



459



460



461



462



463



464



465



466



467



468



469



470



471



472



473



474



475



476



477



478



479



480



481



482



483



484



485



486



487



488



489



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12

490



491



492



493



494



495



496



497



498



499



500



501



502



503



504



505



506



507



508



509



510



511



512



513



514



515



516



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

13

517



518



519



520



521



522



523



524



525



526



527



528



529



530



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

14

531





533



534



535



536



537



538



539



540



541



542



543



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

15

544



545



546



547



548



549



550



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

16

551



552



553



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

17

554



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

18

555



556



557



558



 

NEVADA STATE BOARD OF PHARMACY 

431 W. Plumb Lane  •  Reno, NV  89509 

(775) 850-1440  •  1-800-364-2081  •  FAX  (775) 850-1444 

•  Web Page: bop.nv.gov 

 
NEVADA STATE BOARD OF PHARMACY 

 

ACTIVITIES REPORT 

 

OCTOBER 10-11, 2018 BOARD MEETING HELD IN RENO, NEVADA 

 

This report is prepared and presented to keep interested legislators and others abreast of the activities of 

the Nevada State Board of Pharmacy.  Following is a summary of the October 2018 Board meeting. 

 

Licensing Activity: 

 

- 3 licenses were granted for Out-of-State MDEG (Medical Devices, Equipment and Gases) 

companies. 

- 1 license was granted for a Nevada MDEG company pending receipt of a favorable 

inspection. 

- 16 licenses were granted for Out-of-State pharmacies. 

- 15 licenses were granted for Out-of-State wholesalers. 

- 3 licenses were granted for Nevada pharmacies. 

- 1 licenses was granted for Out-of-State Outsourcing Facilities. 

- 1 license was granted for pharmacy intern with allegations of past criminal activity or drug 

use (after evaluation by PRN-PRN). 

- 1 pharmacist license renewal was granted with conditions. 

  

Disciplinary Actions: 

 

- Physician DA’s Controlled Substance license was revoked.  The revocation was stayed and 

the license placed on probation for 5 years and ordered to pay fees and fines. 

- Physician RG was ordered to pay fees and fines and submit new policies and procedures 

regarding proper PMP access and use. 

- Pharmacist TN and LM were ordered to pay fines and fees and complete additional CEU 

regarding supervising pharmacist responsibilities. 

- Walgreens Pharmacy was ordered to pay fines and fees and provide updated Policies and 

Procedures to Board Staff regarding readily retrievable records and posting expiration dates.  

After Board Staff has approved the Policies & Procedures, Walgreens Pharmacy will re-train 

all Nevada employees. 

 

Other Activity: 

  

- The usual Board business reports were given, including recent and future speaking 

engagements; reports on national meetings; and collaboration with other state agencies. 

- Licensing software updated was provided. 

- Legal staff offered updates on present litigation and audits. 

 

Workshop: 

 

Amendment of Nevada Administrative Code (NAC) 639.250: Restrictions on supervision. 
The proposed amendment to NAC 639.250 will allow for an increase in pharmaceutical 

technician to pharmacist ratio in certain pharmacy settings 

559



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

19

560



561



562



563



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

20A

564



 

1 
 

Proposed Regulation of the Nevada State Board of Pharmacy 

Workshop  

December 05, 2018 

Explanation – Language in blue italics is new; language in red text [omitted material] is 

language to be omitted, and language in green text indicates prior Board-approved amendments 

that are in the process of being codified. 

AUTHORITY:  NRS 639.070; NRS 639.1371 

A REGULATION relating to the ratio of pharmaceutical technicians to pharmacists. 

 

NAC 639.250  Restrictions on supervision. (NRS 639.070, 639.0727, 639.1371)  Except as 

otherwise provided in NAC 639.258: 

     1.  Except as otherwise provided in this section, in a hospital, a pharmacist who is dispensing 

prescriptions may not supervise more than a total of three pharmaceutical technicians at one time. 

A pharmacist who is supervising distributive functions may not supervise more than a total of two 

pharmaceutical technicians and one pharmaceutical technician in training while the trainee is 

performing technician functions in on-the-job training. 

     2.  Except as otherwise provided in this section, in any pharmacy, other than a hospital 

pharmacy, a pharmacist may not supervise more than a total of three pharmaceutical technicians 

or one pharmaceutical technician and two pharmaceutical technicians in training at one time. 

     3.  In any telepharmacy, remote site or satellite consultation site, a pharmacist may not 

supervise more than a total of three pharmaceutical technicians at one time. 

      4.    In a pharmacy that only performs prescription, patient, and prescriber data entry, and 

drug utilization reviews, a pharmacist may not supervise more than a total of eight 

pharmaceutical technicians or six pharmaceutical technicians and two pharmaceutical 

technicians in training at one time.  

565

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-639.html#NRS639Sec070
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-639.html#NRS639Sec0727
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-639.html#NRS639Sec1371
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-639.html#NAC639Sec258


 

2 
 

     4.5.  A pharmacist may supervise more pharmaceutical technicians and pharmaceutical 

technicians in training at one time than are otherwise allowed pursuant to subsections 1 and 2 if: 

     (a) Not more than three of the pharmaceutical technicians or pharmaceutical technicians in 

training are performing the duties of a pharmaceutical technician as set forth in NAC 639.245; and 

     (b) The record kept by the pharmacy pursuant to NAC 639.245 identifies the pharmaceutical 

technicians and pharmaceutical technicians in training who are performing the duties of a 

pharmaceutical technician as set forth in NAC 639.245. 

 

 

566

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-639.html#NAC639Sec245
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-639.html#NAC639Sec245
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-639.html#NAC639Sec245


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

20B

567



 

1 

 

Proposed Regulation of the Nevada State Board of Pharmacy 

Workshop December 6, 2018 

 

Explanation – Language in blue italics is new; language in red text [omitted material] is 

language to be omitted, and language in green text indicates prior Board-approved amendments 

that are in the process of being codified. 

 

AUTHORITY:  §1, NRS 639.070 

 

A REGULATION relating to controlled substances; adding certain substances to the 

controlled substances listed in Schedule V; and providing other matters properly 

relating thereto. 

 

 NAC 453.550  Schedule V. (NRS 453.146, 639.070) 

     1.  Schedule V consists of the drugs and other substances listed in this section, by whatever 

official, common, usual, chemical or trade name designated. 

     2.  Any compound, mixture or preparation containing any of the following narcotic drugs or 

their salts calculated as the free anhydrous base alkaloid, containing one or more nonnarcotic 

active medicinal ingredients in sufficient proportion to confer upon the compound, mixture or 

preparation valuable medicinal qualities other than those possessed by the narcotic drug alone, in 

quantities: 

     (a) Not more than 200 milligrams of codeine per 100 milliliters or per 100 grams; 

     (b) Not more than 100 milligrams of dihydrocodeine per 100 milliliters or per 100 grams; 

     (c) Not more than 100 milligrams of ethylmorphine per 100 milliliters or per 100 grams; 

     (d) Not more than 2.5 milligrams of diphenoxylate and not less than 25 micrograms of 

atropine sulfate per dosage unit; 

     (e) Not more than 100 milligrams of opium per 100 milliliters or per 100 grams; or 

568

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-453.html#NRS453Sec146
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-639.html#NRS639Sec070


 

2 

 

     (f) Not more than 0.5 milligram of difenoxin and not less than 25 micrograms of atropine 

sulfate per dosage unit. 

     3.  Unless specifically excepted or excluded or unless listed in another schedule, any 

material, compound, mixture or preparation which contains any quantity of pyrovalerone having 

a stimulant effect on the central nervous system, including their salts, isomers and salts of 

isomers. 

     4.  Unless specifically excepted or excluded or unless listed in another schedule, any 

material, compound, mixture or preparation which contains any quantity of pregabalin having a 

depressant effect on the central nervous system, including their salts, isomers and salts of 

isomers. 

 5.    Lacosamide.  

     6.    Cannabidiol; Epidiolex;(2-[1R-3-methyl-6R-(1-methylethenyl)-2-cyclohexen-1-yl]-5-

pentyl1,3-benzenediol) in a drug product that has been approved by the U.S Food and Drug 

that is derived from cannabis and no more than 0.1 percent (w/w) residual 

tetrahydrocannabinols.  

 

 

 

  

 

569



48950 Federal Register / Vol. 83, No. 189 / Friday, September 28, 2018 / Rules and Regulations 

1 See S. Rep. No. 91–613, at 4 (1969) (‘‘The United 
States has international commitments to help 
control the worldwide drug traffic. To honor those 
commitments, principally those established by the 
Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs of 1961, is 
clearly a Federal responsibility.’’); Control of 
Papaver Bracteatum, 1 Op. O.L.C. 93, 95 (1977) 
(‘‘[A] number of the provisions of [the CSA] reflect 
Congress’ intent to comply with the obligations 
imposed by the Single Convention.’’). 

Dated: September 24, 2018. 
Leslie Kux, 
Associate Commissioner for Policy. 
[FR Doc. 2018–21146 Filed 9–27–18; 8:45 am] 

BILLING CODE 4164–01–P 

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND 
HUMAN SERVICES 

Food and Drug Administration 

21 CFR Parts 520, 522, 524, and 558 

[Docket No. FDA–2018–N–0002] 

New Animal Drugs; Withdrawal of 
Approval of New Animal Drug 
Applications 

AGENCY: Food and Drug Administration, 
HHS. 
ACTION: Notification of withdrawal. 

SUMMARY: The Food and Drug 
Administration (FDA) is withdrawing 
approval of 12 new animal drug 
applications (NADAs) at the sponsor’s 
request because these products are no 
longer manufactured or marketed. 
DATES: Withdrawal of approval is 
effective October 9, 2018. 
FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: 
Sujaya Dessai, Center for Veterinary 
Medicine (HFV–212), Food and Drug 
Administration, 7519 Standish Pl., 
Rockville, MD 20855, 240–402–5761, 
sujaya.dessai@fda.hhs.gov. 
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION: Virbac 
AH, Inc., 3200 Meacham Blvd., Ft. 
Worth, TX 76137, has requested that 
FDA withdraw approval of the NADAs 
listed in the following table because the 
products are no longer manufactured or 
marketed: 

File No. Product name 21 CFR 
section 

011–779 ... PURINA PIGEMIA 100 
(colloidal ferric oxide).

522.1182 

040–205 ... PURINA Horse Wormer 
Medicated 
(thiabendazole).

520.2380a 

042–116 ... PURINA 6 DAY WORM- 
KILL Feed Premix 
(coumaphos).

558.185 

043–215 ... PURINA GRUB-KILL 
Pour-on Cattle Insecti-
cide (famphur).

524.900 

046–700 ... STATYL Medicated Pre-
mix (nequinate).

558.365 

091–260 ... PULVEX WORM CAPS 
(piperazine phosphate 
monohydrate).

520.1804 

097–258 ... PURINA BAN-WORM for 
Pigs (pyrantel tartrate).

558.485 

102–942 ... PULVEX Multipurpose 
Worm Caps 
(dichlorophene, tol-
uene).

520.580 

113–748 ... PURINA PIGEMIA Oral 
(iron dextran complex).

520.1182 

135–941 ... CHECK-R-TON BM 
(pyrantel tartrate).

558.485 

File No. Product name 21 CFR 
section 

136–116 ... PURINA WORM-A- 
RESTTM Litter Pack 
Premix (fenbendazole).

520.905d 

140–869 ... PURINA SAF-T-BLOC 
BG Medicated Feed 
Block (poloxalene, 
6.6%).

520.1840 

Therefore, under authority delegated 
to the Commissioner of Food and Drugs, 
and in accordance with § 514.116 Notice 
of withdrawal of approval of application 
(21 CFR 514.116), notice is given that 
approval of NADAs 011–779, 040–205, 
042–116, 043–215, 046–700, 091–260, 
097–258, 102–942, 113–748, 135–941, 
136–116, and 140–869, and all 
supplements and amendments thereto, 
is hereby withdrawn, effective October 
9, 2018. 

Elsewhere in this issue of the Federal 
Register, FDA is amending the animal 
drug regulations to reflect the voluntary 
withdrawal of approval of these 
applications. 

Dated: September 24, 2018. 
Leslie Kux, 
Associate Commissioner for Policy. 
[FR Doc. 2018–21147 Filed 9–27–18; 8:45 am] 

BILLING CODE 4164–01–P 

DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE 

Drug Enforcement Administration 

21 CFR Parts 1308, 1312 

[Docket No. DEA–486] 

Schedules of Controlled Substances: 
Placement in Schedule V of Certain 
FDA-Approved Drugs Containing 
Cannabidiol; Corresponding Change to 
Permit Requirements 

AGENCY: Drug Enforcement 
Administration, Department of Justice. 
ACTION: Final order. 

SUMMARY: With the issuance of this final 
order, the Acting Administrator of the 
Drug Enforcement Administration 
places certain drug products that have 
been approved by the Food and Drug 
Administration (FDA) and which 
contain cannabidiol (CBD) in schedule 
V of the Controlled Substances Act 
(CSA). Specifically, this order places 
FDA-approved drugs that contain CBD 
derived from cannabis and no more than 
0.1 percent tetrahydrocannabinols in 
schedule V. This action is required to 
satisfy the responsibility of the Acting 
Administrator under the CSA to place a 
drug in the schedule he deems most 
appropriate to carry out United States 
obligations under the Single Convention 

on Narcotic Drugs, 1961. Also consistent 
therewith, DEA is adding such drugs to 
the list of substances that may only be 
imported or exported pursuant to a 
permit. 
DATES: Effective September 28, 2018. 
FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: 
Kathy L. Federico, Regulatory Drafting 
and Policy Support Section (DPW), 
Diversion Control Division, Drug 
Enforcement Administration; Mailing 
Address: 8701 Morrissette Drive, 
Springfield, Virginia 22152; Telephone: 
(202) 598–6812. 
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION: 

Background and Legal Authority 
The United States is a party to the 

Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs, 
1961 (Single Convention), and other 
international conventions designed to 
establish effective control over 
international and domestic traffic in 
controlled substances. 21 U.S.C. 801(7). 
The Single Convention entered into 
force for the United States on June 24, 
1967, after the Senate gave its advice 
and consent to the United States’ 
accession. See Single Convention, 18 
U.S.T. 1407. The enactment and 
enforcement of the Controlled 
Substances Act (CSA) are the primary 
means by which the United States 
carries out its obligations under the 
Single Convention.1 Various provisions 
of the CSA directly reference the Single 
Convention. One such provision is 21 
U.S.C. 811(d)(1), which relates to 
scheduling of controlled substances. 

As stated in subsection 811(d)(1), if 
control of a substance is required ‘‘by 
United States obligations under 
international treaties, conventions, or 
protocols in effect on October 27, 1970, 
the Attorney General shall issue an 
order controlling such drug under the 
schedule he deems most appropriate to 
carry out such obligations, without 
regard to the findings required by 
[subsections 811(a) or 812(b)] and 
without regard to the procedures 
prescribed by [subsections 811(a) and 
(b)].’’ This provision is consistent with 
the Supremacy Clause of the U.S. 
Constitution (art. VI, sec. 2), which 
provides that all treaties made under the 
authority of the United States ‘‘shall be 
the supreme Law of the Land.’’ In 
accordance with this constitutional 

VerDate Sep<11>2014 17:35 Sep 27, 2018 Jkt 244001 PO 00000 Frm 00046 Fmt 4700 Sfmt 4700 E:\FR\FM\28SER1.SGM 28SER1da
ltl

an
d 

on
 D

S
K

B
B

V
9H

B
2P

R
O

D
 w

ith
 R

U
LE

S
570

mailto:sujaya.dessai@fda.hhs.gov


48951 Federal Register / Vol. 83, No. 189 / Friday, September 28, 2018 / Rules and Regulations 

2 28 CFR 0.100. 
3 The drug Marinol was approved by the FDA in 

1985. Marinol contains a synthetic form of 
dronabinol (an isomer of tetrahydrocannabinol) and 
thus is not made from the cannabis plant. 

4 The text of the Single Convention capitalizes 
schedules (e.g., ‘‘Schedule I’’). In contrast, the text 
of the CSA generally refers to schedules in lower 
case. This document will follow this approach of 
using capitalization or lower case depending on 
whether the schedule is under the Single 
Convention or the CSA. 

It should also be noted that the schedules of the 
Single Convention operate somewhat differently 
than the schedules of the CSA. Unlike the CSA, the 
Single Convention imposes additional restrictions 
on drugs listed in Schedule IV that go beyond those 
applicable to drugs listed in Schedule I. All drugs 
in Schedule IV of the Single Convention are also in 
Schedule I of the Convention. Cannabis and 

cannabis resin are among the drugs listed in 
Schedule IV of the Single Convention. 

5 There are numerous isomers of cannabidiol, 
which will be referred to here collectively as 
‘‘CBD.’’ 

6 Although the Single Convention does not define 
the term ‘‘extract,’’ the ordinary meaning of that 
term would include a product, such as a 
concentrate of a certain chemical or chemicals, 
obtained by a physical or chemical process. See, 
e.g., Webster’s Third New International Dictionary 
806 (1976). Thus, the term extract of cannabis 
would include any product that is made by 
subjecting cannabis material to a physical or 
chemical process designed to isolate or increase the 
concentration of one or more of the cannabinoid 
constituents. 

7 The provisions of federal law relating to the 
import and export of controlled substances—those 
found in 21 U.S.C. 951 through 971—are more 
precisely referred to as the Controlled Substances 
Import and Export Act (CSIEA). However, federal 
courts and DEA often use the term ‘‘CSA’’ to refer 
collectively to all provisions from 21 U.S.C. 801 
through 971 and, for ease of exposition, this 
document will do likewise. 

mandate, under section 811(d)(1), 
Congress directed the Attorney General 
(and the Administrator of DEA, by 
delegation) 2 to ensure that compliance 
by the United States with our nation’s 
obligations under the Single Convention 
is given top consideration when it 
comes to scheduling determinations. 

Section 811(d)(1) is relevant here 
because, on June 25, 2018, the Food and 
Drug Administration (FDA) announced 
that it approved a drug that is subject to 
control under the Single Convention. 
Specifically, the FDA announced that it 
approved the drug Epidiolex for the 
treatment of seizures associated with 
two rare and severe forms of epilepsy, 
Lennox-Gastaut syndrome and Dravet 
syndrome, in patients two years of age 
and older. www.fda.gov/NewsEvents/ 
Newsroom/PressAnnouncements/ 
ucm611046.htm. Epidiolex is an oral 
solution that contains cannabidiol 
(CBD) extracted from the cannabis plant. 
This is the first FDA-approved drug 
made from the cannabis plant.3 Now 
that Epiodiolex has been approved by 
the FDA, it has a currently accepted 
medical use in treatment in the United 
States for purposes of the CSA. 
Accordingly, Epidiolex no longer meets 
the criteria for placement in schedule I 
of the CSA. See 21 U.S.C. 812(b) 
(indicating that while substances in 
schedule I have no currently accepted 
medical use in treatment in the United 
States, substances in schedules II–V do); 
see also United States v. Oakland 
Cannabis Buyers’ Cooperative, 532 U.S. 
483, 491–92 (2001) (same). DEA must 
therefore take the appropriate 
scheduling action to remove the drug 
from schedule I. 

In making this scheduling 
determination, as section 811(d)(1) 
indicates, it is necessary to assess the 
relevant requirements of the Single 
Convention. Under the treaty, cannabis, 
cannabis resin, and extracts and 
tinctures of cannabis are listed in 
Schedule I.4 The cannabis plant 

contains more than 100 cannabinoids. 
Among these are tetrahydrocannabinols 
(THC) and CBD.5 Material that contains 
THC and CBD extracted from the 
cannabis plant falls within the listing of 
extracts and tinctures of cannabis for 
purposes of the Single Convention.6 
Thus, such material, which includes, 
among other things, a drug product 
containing CBD extracted from the 
cannabis plant, is a Schedule I drug 
under the Single Convention. 

Parties to the Single Convention are 
required to impose a number of control 
measures with regard to drugs listed in 
Schedule I of the Convention. These 
include, but are not limited to, the 
following: 

• Limiting exclusively to medical and 
scientific purposes the production, 
manufacture, export, import, 
distribution of, trade in, use and 
possession of such drugs. Article 4. 

• Furnishing to the International 
Narcotics Control Board (INCB) annual 
estimates of, among other things, 
quantities of such drugs to be consumed 
for medical and scientific purposes, 
utilized for the manufacture of other 
drugs, and held in stock. Article 19. 

• Furnishing to the INCB statistical 
returns on the actual production, 
utilization, consumption, imports and 
exports, seizures, and stocks of such 
drugs during the prior year. Article 20. 

• Requiring that licensed 
manufacturers of such drugs obtain 
quotas specifying the amounts of such 
drugs they may manufacture to prevent 
excessive production and accumulation 
beyond that necessary to satisfy 
legitimate needs. Article 29. 

• Requiring manufacturers and 
distributors of such drugs to be licensed. 
Articles 29 & 30. 

• Requiring medical prescriptions for 
the dispensing of such drugs to patients. 
Article 30. 

• Requiring importers and exporters 
of such drugs to be licensed and 
requiring each individual importation or 
exportation to be predicated on the 
issuance of a permit. Article 31. 

• Prohibiting the possession of such 
drugs except under legal authority. 
Article 33. 

• Requiring those in the legitimate 
distribution chain (manufacturers, 
distributors, scientists, and those who 
lawfully dispense such drugs) to keep 
records that show the quantities of such 
drugs manufactured, distributed, 
dispensed, acquired, or otherwise 
disposed of during the prior two years. 
Article 34. 

Because the CSA was enacted in large 
part to satisfy United States obligations 
under the Single Convention, many of 
the CSA’s provisions directly 
implement the foregoing treaty 
requirements. None of the foregoing 
obligations of the United States could be 
satisfied for a given drug if that drug 
were removed entirely from the CSA 
schedules. At least one of the foregoing 
requirements (quotas) can only be 
satisfied if the drug that is listed in 
Schedule I of the Single Convention is 
also listed in schedule I or II of the CSA 
because, as 21 U.S.C. 826 indicates, the 
quota requirements generally apply only 
to schedule I and II controlled 
substances. 

The permit requirement warrants 
additional explanation. As indicated 
above, the Single Convention obligates 
parties to require a permit for the 
importation and exportation of drugs 
listed in Schedule I of the Convention. 
This permit requirement applies to a 
drug product containing CBD extracted 
from the cannabis plant because, as 
further indicated above, such a product 
is a Schedule I drug under the Single 
Convention. However, under the CSA 7 
and DEA regulations, the import/export 
permit requirement does not apply to all 
controlled substances. Rather, a permit 
is required to import or export any 
controlled substance in schedule I and 
II as well as certain controlled 
substances in schedules III, IV, and V. 
See 21 U.S.C. 952 and 953; 21 CFR 
1312.11, 1312.12, 1312.21, 1312.22. 
Thus, in deciding what schedule is most 
appropriate to carry out the United 
States’ obligations under the Single 
Convention with respect to the 
importation and exportation of 
Epidiolex, I conclude there are two 
options: 

(i) Control the drug in schedule II, 
which will automatically require an 

VerDate Sep<11>2014 17:35 Sep 27, 2018 Jkt 244001 PO 00000 Frm 00047 Fmt 4700 Sfmt 4700 E:\FR\FM\28SER1.SGM 28SER1da
ltl

an
d 

on
 D

S
K

B
B

V
9H

B
2P

R
O

D
 w

ith
 R

U
LE

S
571

http://www.fda.gov/NewsEvents/Newsroom/PressAnnouncements/ucm611046.htm
http://www.fda.gov/NewsEvents/Newsroom/PressAnnouncements/ucm611046.htm
http://www.fda.gov/NewsEvents/Newsroom/PressAnnouncements/ucm611046.htm


48952 Federal Register / Vol. 83, No. 189 / Friday, September 28, 2018 / Rules and Regulations 

8 In the House Report to the bill that would 
become the CSA (H. Rep. No. 91–1444, at 36 
(1970)), this issue is explained as follows: 

Under subsection [811(d)], where control of a 
drug or other substance by the United States is 
required by reason of its obligations under [the 
Single Convention], the bill does not require that 
the Attorney General seek an evaluation and 
recommendation by the Secretary of Health, 
Education, and Welfare, or pursue the procedures 
for control prescribed by the bill but he may 
include the drug or other substance under any of 
the five schedules of the bill which he considers 
most appropriate to carry out the obligations of the 
United States under the international instrument, 
and he may do so without making the specific 
findings otherwise required for inclusion of a drug 
or other substance in that schedule. 

9 HHS most recently updated its medical and 
scientific evaluation and scheduling 
recommendation for the Epidiolex formulation by 
letter to DEA dated June 13, 2018. 

10 At present, the cannabis used to make 
Epidiolex is grown in the United Kingdom and the 
drug is imported into the United States in finished 
dosage form. 

11 Nothing in this order alters the requirements of 
the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act that 
might apply to products containing CBD. In 
announcing its recent approval of Epidiolex, the 
FDA Commissioner stated: 

[W]e remain concerned about the proliferation 
and illegal marketing of unapproved CBD- 
containing products with unproven medical 
claims. . . . The FDA has taken recent actions 
against companies distributing unapproved CBD 
products. These products have been marketed in a 
variety of formulations, such as oil drops, capsules, 
syrups, teas, and topical lotions and creams. These 
companies have claimed that various CBD products 
could be used to treat or cure serious diseases such 
as cancer with no scientific evidence to support 
such claims. 

www.fda.gov/NewsEvents/Newsroom/ 
PressAnnouncements/ucm611047.htm. 

import/export permit under existing 
provisions of the CSA and DEA 
regulations or 

(ii) control the drug in schedule III, 
IV, or V, and simultaneously amend the 
regulations to require a permit to import 
or export Epidiolex. 

It bears emphasis that where, as here, 
control of a drug is required by the 
Single Convention, the DEA 
Administrator ‘‘shall issue an order 
controlling such drug under the 
schedule he deems most appropriate to 
carry out such obligations, without 
regard to the findings required by [21 
U.S.C. 811 (a) or 812(b)] and without 
regard to the procedures prescribed by 
[21 U.S.C. 811 (a) or (b)].’’ 21 U.S.C. 
811(d)(1) (emphasis added). Thus, in 
such circumstances, the Administrator 
is not obligated to request a medical and 
scientific evaluation or scheduling 
recommendation from the Department 
of Health and Human Services (HHS) (as 
is normally done pursuant to section 
811(b)).8 Nonetheless, DEA did seek 
such an evaluation and 
recommendation from HHS with respect 
to the Epidiolex formulation. In 
responding to that request, HHS advised 
DEA that it found the Epidiolex 
formulation to have a very low potential 
for abuse and, therefore, recommended 
that, if DEA concluded that control of 
the drug was required under the Single 
Convention, Epidiolex should be placed 
in schedule V of the CSA.9 Although I 
am not required to consider this HHS 
recommendation when issuing an order 
under section 811(d)(1), because I 
believe there are two legally viable 
scheduling options (listed above), both 
of which would satisfy the United 
States’ obligations under the Single 
Convention, I will exercise my 
discretion and choose the option that 
most closely aligns to the HHS 
recommendation. Namely, I am hereby 
ordering that the Epidiolex formulation 
(and any future FDA-approved generic 

versions of such formulation made from 
cannabis) be placed in schedule V of the 
CSA. 

As noted, this order placing the 
Epidiolex formulation in schedule V 
will only comport with section 811(d)(1) 
if all importations and exportations of 
the drug remain subject to the permit 
requirement. Until now, since the 
Epidiolex formulation had been a 
schedule I controlled substance, the 
importation of the drug from its foreign 
production facility has always been 
subject to the permit requirement. To 
ensure this requirement remains in 
place (and thus to prevent any lapse in 
compliance with the requirements of the 
Single Convention), this order will 
amend the DEA regulations (21 CFR 
1312.30) to add the Epidiolex 
formulation to the list of nonnarcotic 
schedule III through V controlled 
substances that are subject to the import 
and export permit requirement. 

Finally, a brief explanation is 
warranted regarding the quota 
requirement in connection with the 
Single Convention. As indicated above, 
for drugs listed in Schedule I of the 
Convention, parties are obligated to 
require that licensed manufacturers of 
such drugs obtain quotas specifying the 
amounts of such drugs they may 
manufacture. The purpose of this treaty 
requirement is to prevent excessive 
production and accumulation beyond 
that necessary to satisfy legitimate 
needs. Under this scheduling order, the 
United States will continue to meet this 
obligation because the bulk cannabis 
material used to make the Epidiolex 
formulation (as opposed to the FDA- 
approved drug product in finished 
dosage form) will remain in schedule I 
of the CSA and thus be subject to all 
applicable quota provisions under 21 
U.S.C. 826.10 

Requirements for Handling FDA- 
Approved Products Containing CBD 

As noted, until now, Epidiolex has 
been a schedule I controlled substance. 
By virtue of this order, Epidiolex (and 
any generic versions of the same 
formulation that might be approved by 
the FDA in the future) will be a 
schedule V controlled substance. Thus, 
all persons in the distribution chain 
who handle Epidiolex in the United 
States (importers, manufacturers, 
distributors, and practitioners) must 
comply with the requirements of the 
CSA and DEA regulations relating to 
schedule V controlled substances. As 

further indicated, any material, 
compound, mixture, or preparation 
other than Epidiolex that falls within 
the CSA definition of marijuana set 
forth in 21 U.S.C. 802(16), including any 
non-FDA-approved CBD extract that 
falls within such definition, remains a 
schedule I controlled substance under 
the CSA.11 Thus, persons who handle 
such items will continue to be subject 
to the requirements of the CSA and DEA 
regulations relating to schedule I 
controlled substances. 

Regulatory Analyses 

Administrative Procedure Act 
The CSA provides for an expedited 

scheduling action where control of a 
drug is required by the United States’ 
obligations under the Single 
Convention. 21 U.S.C. 811(d)(1). Under 
such circumstances, the Attorney 
General must ‘‘issue an order 
controlling such drug under the 
schedule he deems most appropriate to 
carry out such obligations,’’ without 
regard to the findings or procedures 
otherwise required for scheduling 
actions. Id. (emphasis added). Thus, 
section 811(d)(1) expressly requires that 
this type of scheduling action not 
proceed through the notice-and- 
comment rulemaking procedures 
governed by the Administrative 
Procedure Act (APA), which generally 
apply to scheduling actions; it instead 
requires that such scheduling action 
occur through the issuance of an 
‘‘order.’’ 

Although the text of section 811(d)(1) 
thus overrides the normal APA 
considerations, it is notable that the 
APA itself contains a provision that 
would have a similar effect. As set forth 
in 21 U.S.C. 553(a)(1), the section of the 
APA governing rulemaking does not 
apply to a ‘‘foreign affairs function of 
the United States.’’ An order issued 
under section 811(d)(1) may be 
considered a foreign affairs function of 
the United States because it is for the 
express purpose of ensuring that the 

VerDate Sep<11>2014 17:35 Sep 27, 2018 Jkt 244001 PO 00000 Frm 00048 Fmt 4700 Sfmt 4700 E:\FR\FM\28SER1.SGM 28SER1da
ltl

an
d 

on
 D

S
K

B
B

V
9H

B
2P

R
O

D
 w

ith
 R

U
LE

S
572

http://www.fda.gov/NewsEvents/Newsroom/PressAnnouncements/ucm611047.htm
http://www.fda.gov/NewsEvents/Newsroom/PressAnnouncements/ucm611047.htm


48953 Federal Register / Vol. 83, No. 189 / Friday, September 28, 2018 / Rules and Regulations 

United States carries out its obligations 
under an international treaty. 

Executive Order 12866, 13563, and 
13771, Regulatory Planning and Review, 
Improving Regulation and Regulatory 
Review, and Reducing Regulation and 
Controlling Regulatory Costs 

This action is not a significant 
regulatory action as defined by 
Executive Order 12866 (Regulatory 
Planning and Review), section 3(f), and 
the principles reaffirmed in Executive 
Order 13563 (Improving Regulation and 
Regulatory Review), and, accordingly, 
this action has not been reviewed by the 
Office of Management and Budget 
(OMB). 

This order is not an Executive Order 
13771 regulatory action. 

Executive Order 12988, Civil Justice 
Reform 

This action meets the applicable 
standards set forth in sections 3(a) and 
3(b)(2) of Executive Order 12988 to 
eliminate drafting errors and ambiguity, 
minimize litigation, provide a clear legal 
standard for affected conduct, and 
promote simplification and burden 
reduction. 

Executive Order 13132, Federalism 

This action does not have federalism 
implications warranting the application 
of Executive Order 13132. This action 
does not have substantial direct effects 
on the States, on the relationship 
between the national government and 
the States, or on the distribution of 
power and responsibilities among the 
various levels of government. 

Executive Order 13175, Consultation 
and Coordination With Indian Tribal 
Governments 

This action does not have tribal 
implications warranting the application 
of Executive Order 13175. The action 
does not have substantial direct effects 
on one or more Indian tribes, on the 
relationship between the Federal 
government and Indian tribes, or on the 
distribution of power and 
responsibilities between the Federal 
government and Indian tribes. 

Regulatory Flexibility Act 

The Regulatory Flexibility Act (RFA) 
(5 U.S.C. 601–612) applies to rules that 
are subject to notice and comment 
under section 553(b) of the APA or any 
other law. As explained above, the CSA 
exempts this order from the APA notice- 
and-comment rulemaking provisions. 
Consequently, the RFA does not apply 
to this action. 

Paperwork Reduction Act of 1995 

This action does not impose a new 
collection of information requirement 
under the Paperwork Reduction Act of 
1995. 44 U.S.C. 3501–3521. An agency 
may not conduct or sponsor, and a 
person is not required to respond to, a 
collection of information unless it 
displays a currently valid OMB control 
number. 

Congressional Review Act 

As noted above, this action is an 
order, not a rulemaking. Accordingly, 
the Congressional Review Act (CRA) is 
inapplicable, as it applies only to rules. 
However, the DEA has submitted a copy 
of this final order to both Houses of 
Congress and to the Comptroller 
General, although such filing is not 
required under the Small Business 
Regulatory Enforcement Fairness Act of 
1996 (CRA), 5 U.S.C. 801–808. 

List of Subjects 

21 CFR Part 1308 

Administrative practice and 
procedure, Drug traffic control, 
Reporting and recordkeeping 
requirements. 

21 CFR Part 1312 

Administrative practice and 
procedure, Drug traffic control, Exports, 
Imports, Reporting requirements. 

For the reasons set out above, DEA 
amends 21 CFR parts 1308 and 1312 as 
follows: 

PART 1308—SCHEDULES OF 
CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES 

■ 1. The authority citation for part 1308 
continues to read as follows: 

Authority: 21 U.S.C. 811, 812, 871(b), 
956(b) unless otherwise noted. 

■ 2. In § 1308.15, add paragraph (f) to 
read as follows: 

§ 1308.15 Schedule V. 

* * * * * 

(f) Approved cannabidiol drugs. (1) A 
drug product in finished dosage 
formulation that has been approved 
by the U.S. Food and Drug Admin-
istration that contains cannabidiol 
(2-[1R-3-methyl-6R-(1-methylethe
nyl)-2-cyclohexen-1-yl]-5-pentyl- 
1,3-benzenediol) derived from can-
nabis and no more than 0.1 percent 
(w/w) residual tetrahydro
cannabinols ...................................... 7367 

(2) [Reserved] 
* * * * * 

PART 1312—IMPORTATION AND 
EXPORTATION OF CONTROLLED 
SUBSTANCES 

■ 3. The authority citation for part 1312 
is revised to read as follows: 

Authority: 21 U.S.C. 821, 871(b), 952, 953, 
954, 957, 958. 

■ 4. In § 1312.30, revise the introductory 
text and add pargraph (b) to read as 
follows: 

§ 1312.30 Schedule III, IV, and V non- 
narcotic controlled substances requiring an 
import and export permit. 

The following Schedule III, IV, and V 
non-narcotic controlled substances have 
been specifically designated by the 
Administrator of the Drug Enforcement 
Administration as requiring import and 
export permits pursuant to sections 
201(d)(1), 1002(b)(2), and 1003(e)(3) of 
the Act (21 U.S.C. 811(d)(1), 952(b)(2), 
and 953(e)(3)): 
* * * * * 

(b) A drug product in finished dosage 
formulation that has been approved by 
the U.S. Food and Drug Administration 
that contains cannabidiol (2-[1R-3- 
methyl-6R-(1-methylethenyl)-2- 
cyclohexen-1-yl]-5-pentyl-1,3- 
benzenediol) derived from cannabis and 
no more than 0.1 percent (w/w) residual 
tetrahydrocannabinols. 

Dated: September 21, 2018. 
Uttam Dhillon, 
Acting Administrator. 
[FR Doc. 2018–21121 Filed 9–27–18; 8:45 am] 

BILLING CODE 4410–09–P 

DEPARTMENT OF HOMELAND 
SECURITY 

Coast Guard 

33 CFR Part 100 

[Docket No. USCG–2018–0795] 

Special Local Regulations for Marine 
Events; San Francisco Bay Navy Fleet 
Week Parade of Ships and Blue Angels 
Demonstration, San Francisco, CA 

AGENCY: Coast Guard, DHS. 
ACTION: Notice of enforcement of 
regulation. 

SUMMARY: The Coast Guard will enforce 
the special local regulations in the 
navigable waters of the San Francisco 
Bay for the San Francisco Bay Navy 
Fleet Week Parade of Ships and Blue 
Angels Demonstration from October 4 
through October 7, 2018. This action is 
necessary to ensure the safety of event 
participants and spectators. During the 
enforcement period, unauthorized 

VerDate Sep<11>2014 17:35 Sep 27, 2018 Jkt 244001 PO 00000 Frm 00049 Fmt 4700 Sfmt 4700 E:\FR\FM\28SER1.SGM 28SER1da
ltl

an
d 

on
 D

S
K

B
B

V
9H

B
2P

R
O

D
 w

ith
 R

U
LE

S
573



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

21

574



22

575


	Cover
	Agenda
	Minutes
	3. December 2018 Consent Agenda
	A.	Acacia Pharma Inc.
	B.	Amani Pharmacy 
	C.	Astro Rx 
	D.	AvasaRx Pharmacy 
	E.	Benzer Pharmacy 
	F.	Blink Health Pharmacy, LLC 
	G.	Clarks Pharmacy 
	H.	Diplomat Specialty Pharmacy 
	I.	Everwell Specialty Pharmacy 
	J.	Fast Access Specialty Therapeuticas, LLC 
	K.	Good Day Pharmacy LLC 
	L.	Hamilton Rx LLC 
	M. Kaiser Permanente Pharmacy #329
	N.	Omnicare of Sacramento 
	O.	OptumRx 
	P.	Phantastic Pharmacy 
	Q.	PillPack Phoenix 
	R.	Pro Script Solutions Pharmacy 
	S.	Skip’s Pharmacy 
	T.	TC Script LLC 
	U.	V-Care Pharmacy and Surgical Supplies 
	V.	Walgreens Pharmacy #15987 
	W.	Westover Hills Pharmacy 
	X.	Cypress Compounding Pharmacy 
	Y.	Go Live Well Pharmacy 
	Z.	A & K Distributors PR, LLC 
	AA.	Apetevo Biotherapeutics LLC 
	BB.	Braeburn Inc
	CC.	CMP Pharma, Inc. 
	DD.	DC Dental, Inc. 
	EE.	H.D. Smith, LLC 
	FF.	GC Morgan, Inc. 
	GG.	Johnson & Johnson Health Care Systems, Inc. – Elk Grove Village, IL
	HH.	Johnson & Johnson Health Care Systems, Inc. – Warsaw, IN
	II.	Karyopharm Therapeutics Inc
	JJ.	Lifeline Pharmaceuticals 
	KK.	Medmax RX, Inc.
	LL.	MediNatura Inc. 
	MM.	Medisol Plus, LLC 
	NN.	MTS Health Supplies, Inc. 
	OO.	Neurelis, Inc. 
	PP.	New American Therapeutics, Inc. 
	QQ.	Octapharma USA, Inc
	RR.	Patheon Pharmaceuticals Inc. 
	SS.	Prasco Laboratories 
	TT.	Sharps Compliance, Inc. 
	UU.	Tanvex BioPharma USA, Inc. 
	VV.	X-GEN Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
	WW.	Belle Oak Bracing, Inc. 
	XX.	Cintas Corporation No. 2 
	YY.	Cintas Corporation No. 2 #169 
	ZZ.	Durable Medical Supply, Inc
	AAA.	Electrical Geodesics, Inc. 
	BBB.	Essential HME 
	CCC.	Independence Medical 
	DDD.	Integrated CareGroup 
	EEE.	In-Step Mobility Products 
	FFF.	Lingraphicare America, Inc
	GGG.	Onduo, LLC 
	HHH.	OrthoPro of Twin Falls, Inc. 
	III.	WellDyneRx-FL 
	JJJ.	Westside Medical Bracing, Inc
	KKK.	Costco Pharmacy #1320 
	LLL.	Southwest Specialty Pharmacy 
	MMM.	Well Care Pharmacy 
	NNN.	Agiliti Health, Inc. 
	OOO.	Cintas Corporation No. 2 (#187) 

	4. Discipline
	4A. Blair, Susan 17-044-RPH-N
	4B. Walgreens Pharmacy #11227 17-044-PH-N

	5. Applications for Nevada Pharmacy License
	A. Fidelis Specialty Pharmacy
	B. Modern Rx
	C. Perform Rx Pharmacy
	D. Swift Pharmacyeutical Inc.

	6. Applications for Out-of-State Pharmacy License
	A. Hopewell Pharmacy
	B. NexGen Compounding Pharmacy
	C. Pharmacy Solutions
	D. SMP Pharmacy Solutions #2

	7. Applications for Out-of-State Outsourcing Facility License
	A. Asteria Health
	B. Edge Pharmacy Services
	C. Leiter's

	8. Application for Nevada Wholesaler License
	9. Request for Renewal of Out-of-State Pharmacy License
	10. Request for Reinstatement of Pharmacist Registration
	11. Request for Renewal of Pharmacist Registration
	A. Gaiser, Gregory
	B. Tran-Nguyen, Lan 

	12. Request for a Pharmacist Registration by Reciprocation- Eskenazi, Samuel
	13. Request for Renewal of Pharmaceutical Technician in Training Registration- Odegard, Brittany
	14. Request for a Pharmaceutical Technician Registration- Hall, Tiffany
	15. Appeal of Citation for dispensing without a dispensing practitioner registration- Esteves, Roger
	16. Application for Authority to Dispense Drugs- Estevez, Roger
	17. General Counsel Report
	18. Executive Secretary Report
	19. Public Hearing
	20. Workshop
	A. NAC 639.250
	B. NAC 453.550




